
City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

November 27, 2018 
Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 
Meeting  -  6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall – City Council Chambers 
4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Pateidl, Elkins, Strauss, Coleman, Block, Stevens  
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:    
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
Approval of minutes from the October 23, 2018  
 
CONSENT AGENDA: 
CASE 117-18 – BI-STATE CENTENNIAL PARK – CENTRAL STATES BEVERAGE – FENCE – Request for 
approval of a Revised Final Plan, located east of Kenneth Road and north of 143rd Street 
 
CASE 129-18 – TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, 6th PLAT – Request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, 
located north of 137th Street and west of Chadwick Street 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 128-18 – LEAWOOD PRESBYTERIAN – RED DOOR RENOVATION – Request for approval of Revised 
Final Plan, located south of 83rd Street and east of Cherokee Lane 
 
CASE 130-18 – STATE LINE NORTH OFFICE BUILDING – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, Final 
Plan, Preliminary Plat, and Final Plat, located south of 127th Street and west of State Line Road.  **PUBLIC 
HEARING** 
 
ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) 
minutes.  An additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the 
Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is 
reviewed and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use 
permit, and site plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less 
than 20 days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners 
located within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the 
proposal.  The Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission 
agenda.  The following is an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  

7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  

  

Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The 
petition must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real 
property within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded 
pursuant to 16-5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action 
on the proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning 
Commission for further consideration. 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

October 23, 2018 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Elkins, Strauss, Coleman, 

Block, and Stevens. Absent: Hoyt,  

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

Chairman Elkins:  If staff has no revisions or additions, I would entertain a motion. 

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Strauss; seconded by Belzer. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the September 25, 2018 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  On Page 1, it refers to Chairman Elkins instead of Pateidl on two 

different lines. 

 

A motion to approve the revised minutes from the September 25, 2018 Planning 

Commission meeting was made by Coleman; seconded by Stevens. Motion carried 

with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, 

and Stevens. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there anyone who wishes to hear an in-depth presentation of Case 

118-18? If not, I would entertain a motion. 

  

CASE 118-18 – NALL VALLEY SHOPS – BURG & BARREL PATIO – Request for 

approval of a Final Plan, located north of 151st Street and east of Nall Avenue. 

 

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda was made by Stevens; seconded by 

Strauss. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, 

Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
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CASE 114-18 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – LOT 4 REDEVELOPMENT – Request for 

approval of a Preliminary Plan, Final Plan, and Final Plat, located north of 119th Street 

and east of Nall Avenue. PUBLIC HEARING. 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 114-18 – Town Center Plaza – Lot 4 Redevelopment – 

Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, Final Plan, and Final Plat. There are slight 

changes to be made in the stipulations before you tonight. The first is No. 19. The date of 

the Public Works memo should read October 18th, not October 19th. In No. 26, it should 

read “site triangles,” not “sign triangles.”  

 The property is located north of 119th Street and east of Nall Avenue within Town 

Center Plaza. The applicant is requesting approval of a Preliminary Plan, Final Plan, and 

Final Plat to construct two new buildings, totaling 9,363 square feet and to split the 

existing lot into two separate lots in the location of the existing On the Border restaurant. 

The most westward multi-tenant building will be 5,725 square feet and will house a 

multiple-tenant space. The most eastward restaurant building will be 3,638 square feet 

and will house a single-tenant restaurant. The multi-tenant building will be 23’6” tall at 

its tallest point and will be constructed of brick and stone along the back, along with 

black standing-seam awnings and black metal canopies above the doors. An architectural 

wire feature is proposed along the south and east sides of the proposed building to 

provide a material change of the façade to create four sides of architecture. The restaurant 

building will be 25’ tall at its highest point and will be constructed of Metro Brick in two 

different shades of grey. Along the north, south, and east elevations, a diagonal pattern is 

created, using a color and material change, separated by a metal inset to help create 

architectural interest along all sides of the proposed building. Parking spaces are 

proposed along the east side of the restaurant building along with a 65’ long, 15’ wide 

outdoor patio along the north side of the building. Although no signage is proposed with 

this application because it is done at a separate time, the applicant has shown the 

locations of proposed monument signs. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO), 

a monument sign may be used in lieu of a wall or canopy sign and may only be allowed 

by Governing Body after recommendation by the Planning Commission. Staff included in 

stipulation No. 12 for the applicant to provide demarcated crosswalks along both northern 

entrances into the project area and to match the demarcation of the surrounding area. The 

project meets our regulations per the LDO, and staff recommends approval of Case 114-

18 with the stipulations listed in the report. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Can you talk about the proposed grease trap? I just haven’t come across 

that in other plans for restaurants that we’ve had.  

 

Mr. Sanchez:  I’m not really sure how they work; although, we did put them along the 

south side of the building on the northeastern part so that it would be easier for them to be 

taken care of by maintenance so as not to disturb any landscaping surrounding it. 
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Comm. Strauss:  There would be landscaping? It wouldn’t be visible from any of the 

streets? Maybe the applicant could address it. Are they covered?  

 

Mr. Klein:  It should be at grade. Almost all restaurants have a grease trap associated with 

them. Originally, they had it a little farther to the west. When they pump it out, it won’t 

make a mess of the sidewalk.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  Did this proposal have bike racks? 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Three bicycle racks are proposed on the east side of the restaurant 

building. You should have a cut sheet of what the bike racks look like. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I assume the lighting in the outdoor patio area meets the LDO 

requirements. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Yes; we worked with the applicant. The LDO states that as long as the 

source of illumination is not seen, it is allowed. They are proposing a frosted glass to help 

filter the source of the illumination. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there any other questions for staff? Seeing none, I 

would invite the applicant to step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

David Olsson, 3501 W. 147th Street, Leawood, appeared before the Planning Commission 

and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Olsson:  I’m representing both the ownership entity, OTB Town Center, LLC, and 

Shake Shack in the presentation tonight. You probably noticed that OTB has closed. 

We’re excited to bring this well-timed redevelopment proposal before you. We have read 

the stipulations and agree with them. We are ready to move forward. We had our Interact 

Meeting and had nothing but positive comments. I’d like to start with just a brief 

overview of the overall development. It’s a complete demolition of the existing building 

and site amenities. All the paving, landscaping, and most of the utilities are being 

demolished. We are placing buildings closer to 119th Street with a very generous 

landscape setback. Our overall Site Plan also includes removing one of the existing 

entrances to Town Center. We are removing some of the older tired trees and replacing 

the entire landscape theme with new landscaping and new irrigation. I would also point 

out that Ricky mentioned the crosswalks provided along Town Center Drive, connecting 

to the Arhaus sidewalks provided along Town Center Drive and also providing pedestrian 

connection from the 119th sidewalk into our site so that you’ve got completely integrated 

pedestrian access. 

 We have identified a nice palette that we believe is extremely complementary to 

the existing facilities, specifically Arhaus and The Container Store. We picked our stone 

materials and some of our highlight colors from those buildings and also tried to 

complement very respectfully the Town Center development interior. The Shake Shack 
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building rendering is very representative of their character that they’re portraying. 

They’re a national retailer. You’ve probably seen them down at the Plaza, their first 

location in Kansas. You should be very proud that they’ve identified this location to place 

their first Kansas store. With those highlights, we have members of the ownership entity 

here as well as folks from Olsson and Associates to answer any questions you may have. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Olsson? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Obviously, Shake Shack is going into Building 2. Do you have any 

tenants for Building 1 yet? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  We are not prepared tonight to disclose those, but they are national retailers 

and another good addition to the development. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  In terms of the scope of the project and the timeline, how long will it 

take to demolish On the Border and get Shake Shack up and running? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  I’m always asked when it will be finished, and I will always ask when I can 

start. We’re trying to get through the approvals as quickly as possible. We are ready to 

literally start demolition today. We understand that’s not feasible, but we do plan to start 

demolition right around January 1st. We’ll deliver building pads hopefully before April, 

and business will open roughly six months thereafter.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions for Mr. Olsson? Thank you. Because of the nature of 

this application, we’ll have a Public Hearing. You will have an opportunity to respond if 

necessary. 

 

Public Hearing 

Lou Ambrose, Houlihan’s Restaurant Company, appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Ambrose:  I oversee The Bristol here in Leawood and a couple other brands. My 

question is about the number of parking spaces that will be required for the multiple 

tenants. Is there enough parking for Shake Shack based on the volume of business? If 

there isn’t, where would the additional parking for employees and guests be? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Mr. Olsson, do you or anyone on your team care to 

respond to the question on parking? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  Just going from memory, the parking provides about ten parking spaced per 

1,000. Building No. 2 will provide five per 1,000 for the retail building, and it will leave 

almost 20 per 1,000 for the restaurant use. I think that’s a pretty healthy parking ratio. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does that meet with the guidelines in our LDO? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  Oh, absolutely.  
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Mr. Sanchez:  Per the LDO, in SD-CR, it is 3.5-4.5 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet 

on the retail side of it. On the restaurant side, it is one space per two seats. They meet this 

requirement.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are there other comments from the public? 

 

Mr. Ambrose:  How many guests are going to be seated in the restaurant? How many 

guests order to go, which will take up a parking spot? 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I’m sure that will be an estimate, but we’ll ask Mr. Olsson if he can 

respond. 

 

Mr. Olsson:  Honestly, I don’t have the percentage of takeout versus seating. I’m 

estimating 20 stalls per 1,000 square feet. Most retailers in our industry never ask for 

more than 15. I’m very comfortable that we’ve got adequate parking. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Additional comments from the public? If not, I would entertain a 

motion to close the Public Hearing. 

 

A motion to close the Public Hearing was made by Pateidl; seconded by Belzer. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Olsson, do you have anything to add in light of the questions 

asked during the Public Hearing? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  I don’t have any with respect to the Public Hearing, but I would like to 

speak to the grease trap question. Johnson County Wastewater has an extremely rigorous 

review approval process. A grease trap is all below grade. It is a 1,500-gallon concrete 

box with two manhole lids. The lids are virtually all that is visible. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to a discussion. Any comments from commissioners?  

 

Comm. Strauss:  I’m thrilled that the building didn’t sit vacant very long. We have what 

looks like a great proposal in front of us. We heard one concern at the Public Hearing on 

parking. I would think employees would park north of the building and not east. I can 

understand the concerns of Houlihan’s, but in addition to the site, there is excess parking 

to the north. I’m comfortable with that. 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  Staff would like to add a stipulation to require the northern sidewalk to 

connect all the way to Rosewood Street. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That would be an additional stipulation? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It can just be added to No. 12.  
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Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Olsson, does that raise any concern to you or your clients? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  That is totally acceptable. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is there a motion? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 114-18 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – 

LOT 4 REDEVELOPMENT – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan, Final 

Plan, and Final Plat, located north of 119th Street and east of Nall Avenue – with 

enclosed stipulations, including the modification of No. 12 to include the 

requirement to extend the northern sidewalk to Rosewood Street – was made by 

Belzer; seconded by Pateidl. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

CASE 115-18 – RANCH MART NORTH SHOPPING CENTER – REDEVELOPMENT 

– Request for approval of a Rezoning, Preliminary Plan, Preliminary Plat, and Special 

Use Permit, located north of 95th Street and east of Mission Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Jessica Schuller made the following presentation: 

 

Ms. Schuller:  This is Case 115-18 – Ranch Mart North Shopping Center – 

Redevelopment – Request for approval of a Rezoning, Preliminary Plan, Preliminary 

Plan, and Special Use Permit for a pharmacy drive-through. Ranch Mart North is 

generally located east of Mission Road and north of 95th. Before I proceed, I do have a 

correction to make to stipulations as well. No. 17 should be removed, as it is a duplicate 

of No. 21. No. 34 should be changed to read, “. . . 1-33.” On No. 24, the date of the 

memo should read October 18th rather than October 19th.  

 The applicant proposes to rezone the entire Ranch Mart North development into 

two zoning districts. The main retail center, the bank, and McDonald’s will be zoned SD-

CR (Planned General Retail). The Care Now, the cemetery, and associated parking will 

be zoned SD-NCR2 (Planned Neighborhood Retail 2). The applicant proposes to 

redevelop the entire parking lot of the center, consisting of a mill and overlay and 

updating the parking lot islands, landscaping, and lighting. Additional islands are 

proposed just north of the McDonald’s parking lot for improved circulation through that 

area. The applicant proposes to eliminate one of the existing driveways on 95th Street 

between the McDonald’s entrance and the stoplight to the east. The applicant is 

proposing 5’ sidewalks along 95th Street and Mission Road as well as connections from 

the main center to the perimeter sidewalks. The applicant proposes street trees, shrubs, 

and 3’ parking lot screening walls along 95th Street. Along Mission Road, the applicant is 

proposing a 3’ screen wall and shrubs but does not propose street trees due to a number 

of utilities within the right-of-way. However, staff is recommending that the applicant 

would plant street trees along Mission as well, working with staff to avoid conflicts with 

utilities at the time of Final Plan. There is also a portion of the McDonald’s parking lot 

frontage that is not screened by the 3’ wall as required by the LDO. Staff recommends 
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that this be added where necessary by making adjustments to parking lot curbs where 

needed to make it fit. The applicant proposes updating the facades and the roofs of the 

main retail center. The materials generally consist of grey-tone brick and tile accented 

with natural wood tones on the awnings and some metal screens as accents as well. The 

applicant is proposing a pharmacy drive-through in approximately the same location as 

the existing grocery store pickup location. The applicant is proposing to demolish a 

portion of the main retail center for use as a pedestrian plaza area on the eastern side of 

the building. The plaza space would include landscaping, seating, and lighting. An 

architectural gateway features proposed on the southern façade entrance to the plaza area 

to serve as an entry gateway. In the northeast corner of the center where the previous 

bowling alley was located, the applicant is proposing to demolish that portion of the 

building and construct a two-story, 27,597 sq. ft. office and retail building. The proposed 

building will have a second-story balcony that overlooks the plaza space. The overall 

square footage of the Ranch Mart development is actually decreasing from 221,552 

square feet to 217,366 square feet. The existing structures of McDonald’s, the bank, and 

the Care Now buildings will remain; although, their parking areas and sidewalks will be 

updated. 

 Ranch Mart was originally developed prior to the adoption of our current 

ordinance, so a number of the setbacks on the site do not comply with today’s LDO, but 

they are considered legal, nonconforming. The applicant, however, is not increasing the 

nonconformity anywhere on the site, so it is still in compliance with the ordinance. The 

approval of this plan will include two deviations: one to the interior parking setback and 

one to the interior building setback, which will go down to 0’. Staff recommends 

approval of Case 115-18 with the stipulations outlined in the Staff Report. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I’m curious about the legal, nonconforming position we’ve taken on a 

number of the existing improvements. Yet, there is a section on Page 5 entitled Requested 

Deviations, which deal with the interior structure setback and the interior parking 

setback. The existing is 0, and deviations cannot be requested. What is the difference on 

these two items that they are not considered grandfathered or legal, nonconforming to 

begin with? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The deviations have to be specifically listed in the LDO. The particular 

deviation with regard to zero-line setback for the parking and buildings is specifically 

listed in the Deviations section in Article 3 of the LDO. The other elements that are legal, 

nonconforming are existing, and there is not a deviation offered by the LDO. It is a 

recognition that the building is there, and the only other way to do it would be to tear 

down part of the building. The LDO allows legal, nonconforming as long as they were 

constructed legally at the time they were put in place and that they don’t increase the 

nonconformity. In this case, the majority actually decrease the nonconformity. They can’t 

do anything about the buildings because they would have to be moved, but for some of 

the parking setbacks, they are reducing in nonconformity and increasing the parking 

setback or open space.  
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Comm. Pateidl:  Does that mean that the deviations, as requested, are basically a given as 

far as the project is concerned? 

 

Mr. Klein:  It is always up to the Planning Commission and City Council. The two 

deviations that they are requesting are very common within commercial developments. If 

there is a property line running between, rather than requiring the parking lot to be broken 

up with a 10’ buffer between them to create a 10’ parking setback, it makes more sense to 

allow the zero-line setback. Property lines also go through buildings. Park Place has a lot 

of them with a common wall, which is a zero-line setback as well.  

 

Comm. Block:  I see that McDonald’s is currently zoned Agriculture. How does that get 

missed? What does that mean? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  It means that there wasn’t a formal zoning ordinance on that as we have 

embarked on the project to make sure we have an ordinance on everything. At the time it 

came in, it was never formally included, so it is being included now to correct that. 

 

Comm. Block:  The labeling doesn’t have any implications as to how they are assessed 

real estate taxes to this point? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  I am not aware of that. 

 

Mr. Klein:  That is the county. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Can you just specifically show us on the map what is being 

demolished? I know it is the east side. I know Seasonal Concepts was over there. I just 

want to get the dividing line.  

 

Ms. Schuller:  (Referring to plan) Everything on the north side of the alley is being taken 

out with this going in. Additionally, the tenant space just east of Dunkin Donuts is being 

taken out to provide the pedestrian space. The corner space is the proposed restaurant use. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  The building you pointed to will remain? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  Correct. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  With respect to McDonald’s and the egress out of the northwest access 

point, this site seems very similar to the McDonald’s at 119th and Roe. At that location, 

they have modified it to be an ingress only with an egress farther to the east. The concern 

is that people exiting there could get stuck behind a queue or pull out when someone is 

pulling in to Ranch Mart. It just seems like a high accident location that we rectified at 

119th and Roe. Was that considered here? 

 

Mr. Ley:  We worked quite a bit with the developer on this, trying to figure out the access 

to the Mc Donald’s. Currently, it is pretty wide open. We tried to limit it. This was the 

best way to keep the vehicles from driving through parking lots. If vehicles head 
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northbound to exit, they would end up having to drive through more parking lot with 

more pedestrians. We felt that, if they had to wait to make a left, they would just queue 

up on McDonald’s property. We didn’t think that was as big of an issue. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  It seems like it could be just like 119th and Roe, where it is an entrance, 

and the eastern access point was the exit. Vehicles would turn left and pass 4-5 parking 

spaces to the north. It just seems like a safety hazard that has been rectified in one place 

but is still present here. I agree that the whole Site Plan has really improved traffic 

circulation and pedestrian circulation except for that one location. 

 

Mr. Ley:  We can continue to look at that when they come back for the Final Plan. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  My other question is related to pedestrian movement. Again, there are 

some great enhancements. The one concern seems like there is no pedestrian sidewalk or 

demarcated space along the north side of the property. To walk from the Irish Pub to the 

new office building, a pedestrian would walk through the parking lot. Is that correct? 

 

Mr. Klein:  There is a gap there. There is a service driveway with the loading dock as 

well. It was tough to be able to transition through that.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  There is some retail close to the loading dock, I realize. I just wonder if 

you could get a path to allow people to not walk within the traffic stream. 

 

Mr. Klein:  We can certainly work with the applicant when they come back with a Final 

Plan. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  It was alluded to earlier with regard to the curb trees along Mission 

Road and the utility easement. To my recollection within the last 2-3 years, there has 

been some major utility work done along that particular strip. Can you tell us what 

utilities are there and the likelihood of trees not creating a problem inside that easement? 

 

Mr. Ley:  I believe most of the utilities are overhead in that location, including KCP&L, 

AT&T, and Time Warner. We have not received a utility plan for burying those power 

lines.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Sewer and water along in there was where they had a huge project that 

lasted forever. I don’t see where there will be room for trees along Mission Road. I also 

have a question about moving the wall to the west side of the sidewalk. Could you 

expand on your reasoning behind that?  

 

Mr. Ley:  Staff proposed to have the retaining wall on the west side of the sidewalk, and 

then they could raise the grade. There would be filling on top of the existing ground, and 

that would give them room to plant trees in that area. Plus, it would provide more of a 

physical barrier between Mission Road and the sidewalk. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  To plant trees, it would have to be lifted by 5’.  
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Mr. Ley:  The east end would be raised up 2’-3’.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I guess that is grading we would have to see on some elevations. I’m just 

looking at the practicality, but I would also like to know what the reasoning is for moving 

it from the east to the west side. 

 

Mr. Ley:  If the retaining wall goes on the east side, it would need a handrail because 

there would be a 2’ drop adjacent to the sidewalk because of the grade difference 

between Mission Road and the parking lot. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  It is for grading purposes. 

 

Mr. Ley:  The retaining wall is, yes. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Does that create more difficulty as far as the placement of street trees? I 

see the wall is now adjacent to Mission Road. 

 

Mr. Ley:  There would be approximately 8.5’-10’ between back of curb on Mission Road 

to the retaining wall. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  There certainly isn’t now. 

 

Mr. Ley:  With the new plan, there would be. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  The new plan will give up that much of the parking area? 

 

Mr. Ley:  They are reconfiguring the parking lot. Currently, there is one parking bay 

against the building, two parking bays, and then a parking bay against Mission Road. 

They are only going to have three of those parking bays. They’re bringing the curb in to 

the east. On Mission Road, we moved the curb and gutter over 2.5’ to the west this past 

summer. We measured from back of curb to the building. That is how we came out with 

8.5’. We are pretty confident they will be able to get that 8.5’-10’. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  We’ve belonged to Nativity Parish for 14 years, and my kids went to 

school there. In all that time, I would never walk on the sidewalk along Mission Road 

because of the traffic that was on it. From what’s being said or what I could understand 

from the plans, I didn’t realize that you were bringing in the parking lot that far. Are they 

deeding some of that land to the city for right-of-way? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Just the sidewalk easement. By making these changes, it will create green 

space and a place to plant the trees. It will greatly improve the whole visual aspect of that 

area. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  The other part I read is that these barrier walls for sight barrier have to 

be incorporated with greenery, and there are talks about putting a hedge of shrubs 
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adjacent to that wall. If we move that wall to the west side, what does that do to that 

whole concept of the greenery? Does it even allow for it to be practically be part of this 

deal? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  You would have 8’-10’ of green space for the trees and for foundation 

plantings along the wall on the west side. The view from Mission would be a green strip 

with trees, not the sidewalk.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  So, you see the room for the shrubbery and the trees to the west of the 

wall even though the wall is moving to the west of the sidewalk? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions for staff? I would invite the applicant to step forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Curtis Petersen, Polsinelli Law Firm, 6201 College Blvd., appeared before the Planning 

Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I’m representing Ranch Mart North, LLC and several related entities that 

own pieces of the center. Our architect is Chris Hafner with Davidson a&e. Lynn Corsi 

and Tripp Ross are here as well. Usually, we have to draw straws for who on the 

development team is coming. Not every project is created the same. This is something 

that has great nostalgia for many of us who grew up here. We get excited when we talk 

about Ranch Mart. We think we finally landed on something compelling and real. With 

that, I would say that this shopping center has been here for almost 60 years. The thought 

is to create something that is not only going to have nostalgia for the next 50 years but 

also something that we will all be very proud of. Chris will walk through the plan. I will 

come back at the end with a few tweaks and suggested revisions to a few stipulations. 

Both of us will be available to answer questions. 

 

Chris Hafner, Davidson Architecture and Engineering, 4301 Indian Creek Parkway, 

Overland Park, appeared before the Planning Commission and made the following 

comments: 

 

Mr. Hafner:  (Refers to presentation throughout) Thank you for the time. We’re excited 

to be here. I’m going to walk through our plan and put a little flavor and color on what 

we’ve provided. The Site Plan calls out the two zoning areas, building use, parking lot, 

and analysis. The section added to Sheet A1.0, Detail 3 really shows Mission Road to the 

west side of our shopping center. It describes some of those utilities. I share the same 

concern about street trees being planted along there. The aerial shows the existing 

shopping center and a line that shows the work happening over and above. The building 

that attaches to Price Chopper will be removed. The building will be set back at least 

125’ from the residential neighbors. The building will have some potential restaurant use 

and office use, looking down into that plaza we’re all excited about. We were tasked with 

pedestrian safety, vehicular safety, and movement through the site. In the parking lot, 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 12 - October 23, 2018 

there are not many islands or dedicated drive lanes through the site. We wanted to 

increase throat depth where we could, make the intersections a little more accident-free 

coming off Mission and 95th Street, and get pedestrians into the site and move them 

safely from any of the streets to the shopping center. I appreciate staff’s time and 

continued support and communication to help us work through some of those items. At 

one time, the parking was one-way, angled parking. We’ve changed it to 90-degree 

parking. We’ve done analysis with our client to understand how to increase the amount of 

parking we can provide on that west side. We are obviously tight between Mission Road 

and the existing building. We found that this change increases the ability to park there. 

The same can be said about the south face of Price Chopper. We have gotten rid of that 

secondary access road, for lack of a better term, that ran north of 95th from McDonald’s 

down to the Care Now building in front of the cemetery. We have created islands and 

increased throat depth to bring those cars to a safer point to exit and move through the 

site. We also got rid of the drive in front of the old cemetery, which adds to green space 

in that area. In the area where Seasonal Concepts used to be and where our current tenant 

is now is some sort of visual break that is really important to us and the existing building. 

We are demolishing a portion of the retail center to get views back into what we consider 

to be a really exciting part of the site. It all is, but this pedestrian plaza is really exciting 

for us. A lot of programming ideas are floating around the management company about 

what we could do in that space with events. Moving east, right now, the parking lot is a 

big sea of asphalt. We are trying to define lanes, define parking spaces, and work around 

the existing bank building and Care Now building. We are trying to provide as much 90-

degree normalized drive lane opportunities on this site as possible. We worked with staff 

on pedestrian connectivity and provided connectivity both east and west and north and 

south on this site. I will point out that we have the drive-through. Currently, there is an 

antiquated grocery pickup area with a huge canopy. It sticks out into the drive and makes 

the drive loop south around it. We worked with Price Chopper, who is looking at 

renovation because of the shopping center getting redone. This will become a pharmacy. 

We had shorter stacking and were able to get the five in there. That is tied to the Special 

Use Permit for this being repurposed into something that will be used. We have grocery 

pickup, but it is more of a mobile setup happening just to the east of the front entry where 

we have ADA spaces as well. We have been working with the Price Chopper team pretty 

closely about how all of that works. Important to note, along our north property line, the 

existing parking is actually farther north than it is shown in this plan. We were able to 

pull down and consolidate some of that to create a little more buffer along that north line. 

We push out on the east side and the northeast corner, but we still stay within the LDO 

setback requirements. We have new lighting with 18’ high LED lighting. It will make it 

safe, and our photometric studies indicate we won’t have light spillage into the residential 

neighborhood. We had an Interact Meeting on October 11th. It was well attended, and we 

got positive feedback. I did not hear one negative comment about the project or the 

redevelopment.  

 We have what we like to call a paradigm shift from what Ranch Mart North looks 

like currently. You recognize the long eaves, overhangs, and shake roofs. The design 

concept was to really leave the outer limits of the tenant space where they are currently, 

except the new building, and just work from the façade of that building out with new and 

exciting architecture. It has a lot of clean lines and interesting materials that all meet the 
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LDO requirements. We worked closely with Price Chopper. They have bought in on the 

elevation we have for their section of the building. They’re excited about the renovation. 

We have a lot of other tenants that are doing the same thing with your blessing tonight. 

We are keeping building heights normalized. The view on the east side shows the 

Seasonal Concepts and the two-story restaurant/office building, which is what is visible 

from the east parking lot. The north elevation goes around the Price Chopper loading 

area. I recall a comment about pedestrian connectivity on the north side. The challenge is 

we need a large field of asphalt for maneuverability for loading and unloading for the 

anchor tenant of the shopping center. We reviewed that, and our preference would be to 

keep pedestrian traffic away from that section because of all the deliveries they get.  

 We have a general material list and color palette. We’re keeping it fairly tonal. 

We don’t want to date the center with a lot of bright colors that might be popular now. 

We’re in this for the long haul. We’re doing a significant upgrade to materials to try to 

make it stand the test of time. 

 Off 95th, we are trying to create a visual pathway back to our new building as well 

as the pedestrian pathways. We continue to refine our elevations with our client every 

week. I’d love to hear feedback on the architecture and Site Plan. I have a couple other 

exhibits as well. We did a site rendering for our Interact Meeting to give a better 

understanding of the green space, which we are increasing. We would like to talk about 

Mission Road. I’m not opposed to trees. I love trees and love to put them in projects. My 

challenge is not a horizontal issue with the space from Mission Road to our new curb 

line; it is the number of things that happen underground. We have been working with 

KCP&L on burying the overhead power lines as part of the project. We are working with 

them on locations of switch gears, sectionalizers, and transformers along 95th and 

Mission as well as on our site. At the end of the day, whatever is above, we are trying to 

get below. I want to make sure we have a conversation about it so we’re all on the same 

page. Again, my main issue is the number of utilities underground. It is really tight and 

cluttered for any type of tree, let alone shade trees with the root diameter required for 

sustainable growth along that frontage. My hope was that we could put in decorative 

walls and landscaping at the pedestrian level and let our trees that we’re putting within 

the parking lot and great architecture be visually impactful from Mission without trying 

to put trees in a spot that could have long-term impacts on utilities. We are doing it along 

95th, so it is not a total refusal; it is just a tight space with a lot of things happening 

underground. 

 Staff asked for one of the parking stalls to be removed from the north and south 

sides of our west parking. That side of the site is heavily used, which is great. Currently, I 

have a parking stall running straight in from the drive lane. I haven’t had a chance to 

share this with staff yet, and I apologize for that. I looked at moving those over and 

giving ourselves a little buffer so if a car did park in that location, it would have the 

ability to back out and not be up against the curb. Our request would be to shift 

everything over instead of losing the two stalls. We have enough island room east of 

there but give more room to allow that movement to happen.  

 Currently, the break in the Seasonal Concept happens with an existing tenant. We 

continue to explore the right location based on tenant leases. The break still provides 

great visual impact to visitors of the shopping center to the building we have back in the 

plaza as well as the plaza itself.  
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 One other comment that came up was the trash enclosure. We originally had them 

located in the northeast corner of our site as a consolidated trash location. Staff was quick 

to point out that it needed to be architecturally integrated into buildings. We were able to 

take the grouping of trash enclosures and get them put on the north side of the Price 

Chopper building and some of our other buildings over there. I couldn’t get them all to 

fit, though. I integrated one into the columns of the teller canopy. Our approach was to be 

able to extend off the masonry that matches the bank building and provide a trash 

enclosure in that location. We looked at a lot of other locations around the bank building 

to try to do this. The north side is covered completely with required exits, windows, and 

condensing units on either side that are screened in masonry. We didn’t have an 

opportunity to put those there. Based on our restaurant user and trying to tie it in 

architecturally to this building was our solution.  

 I wanted to point out those three alternatives and show you some color of the 

project. With that, I might let Mr. Petersen come back up and talk to the stipulations, and 

then we can answer questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. We’ll do it a little differently. Before Mr. Petersen steps 

up, I’ll give the commission the opportunity to ask you questions about your presentation.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  Are there current tenants in the part that is going to be demolished – the 

indoor baseball facility? Is that still there? 

 

Mr. Hafner:   It is still there. I would love to have our management team be able to talk to 

that more. Their plan would not be an indoor baseball facility in the new Mixed-Use 

building. I could have someone else speak to the tenants and lease.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  Driving through that center can be very challenging, and I like what 

you’re proposing with the throughways and taking out all the angled parking. I like the 

way you’ve streamlined and made it easier to navigate the center. Is Ranch Mart North a 

part of the Ranch Mart on the other side of 95th Street? 

 

Mr. Hafner:  I will also let them answer that.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll give Mr. Petersen a chance to answer those. Additional 

questions? 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I don’t know if this is the right time, but do you have tenants secured for 

the new spaces that you are proposing? 

 

Mr. Hafner:  We are working closely with tenant relocation, new tenants, especially at the 

east end of the old Seasonal Concepts building with the restaurant. I’ve done a 

permanent-level plan for the space next to it for a new tenant as well. We are actively 

marketing the building on the northeast. Tentatively, we laid the parking count out for 

two restaurants. One would be in the southeast corner; one would be in the southwest 

corner. They would spill out into the plaza with maybe a small retail use to the north of 
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that and then an office tenant ideally taking the floor plate of that second floor. We’re not 

marketing that right now, though. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  I live in northern Leawood, so I am excited about a proposed 

redevelopment of this part of Ranch Mart. In talking about the parking by O’Neill’s, it 

looks like there is a significant number of spots that have been removed. Is there enough 

for those tenants? 

 

Mr. Hafner:  There are. Actually, 90-degree parking is more efficient than angled 

parking. We did that analysis, and this number increases the spots, even with eliminating 

a row. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  The exit from the parking lot by O’Neill’s is a busy sidewalk area with 

kids from school. We just talked about putting up a wall. Are there issues with visibility? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  The wall would not obstruct the traffic triangles. It will actually be safer 

for the kids because it will protect them from the traffic.  

 

Mr. Hafner:  We have a line drawn. I would assume that is a low fence with some 

landscaping to break it up. I don’t think we want to put one long, 3’ wall along that 

frontage. We want to break it up visually. I want to be careful that I make a claim that the 

wall will stop an accident or stop something from happening. That is not the goal of this 

wall; it is more of a visual break from the parking field to the public way. We looked at 

the site distance triangles and kept them pulled back from that. There is a good, clear line 

of sight. I share your same concerns. 

 

Comm. Hunter:  On the east side of the parking lot, does this affect the neighbors? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  The setbacks along that side are the same as well as the vegetation 

screening the homes. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  We would just be consolidating the site lighting and things like that and 

bringing it to a more normal pole height.  

 

Comm. Stevens:  Mr. Hafner, to clarify because it is a stipulation of the removed parking 

on the corner and you showed a diagram how you are improving that, are you doing the 

same to the south corner? 

 

Mr. Hafner:  Yes, it was done for both. 

 

Comm. Stevens:  So, both would cover that stipulation. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  If acceptable, yes. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? If not, Mr. Petersen, you have the floor. 
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Mr. Petersen:  Commissioner Belzer asked about ownership. Ranch Mart North and 

South are different legal entities but the same family.  

 

Comm. Belzer:  I was just wondering if the architectural treatment would be similar to 

what is across the street on 95th. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I am not an architect, but I would call it complementary but not matching. 

I hope to talk about some conforming clarifications we would put before you for your 

consideration. On behalf of the applicant, we would say stipulation Nos 1-33 are 

acceptable to the applicant with the following adjustment: No. 4 is the stipulation that 

addresses utilities along Mission Road. The stipulation says that they must be buried prior 

to final occupancy. We would like to change that to, “. . . final occupancy of any portion 

of the new construction.” Since we have current tenants, we don’t want any confusion of 

the record that somehow, existing tenants can’t be there. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Would staff care to respond to the proposed change? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The final occupancy is with regard to the improvements they’re doing on the 

center. It wouldn’t keep existing tenants from being there; however, before they get final 

occupancy for any of the portions they are changing, the stipulation would to into effect. 

The only concern with limiting it to just the two-story building is if that building got put 

off, the burial of the power lines could be put off along with that. We are looking for the 

power lines to get dropped as the development gets improved. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We would respectfully say we would like to leave it how we put it because 

the city will still have all the leverage to be sure that the utilities are buried partly because 

of the public-private partnership that will take place. Also, just knowing that, during the 

time of this construction project, as we are working on the façade, we can’t be in a 

position where we can’t rent tenant spaces. We could have a tenant that leaves and could 

have a national tenant that wants to go in. If we have to bury the utilities before we could 

put that tenant in, we could lose a great tenant. We would ask for your consideration of 

the language we put on the table. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I agree with Mark’s interpretation of this. We would be concerned that 

they are buried during the construction of the project and that the lines would generally 

be one of the first things of the project. It might be something that is taken up later. I 

would recommend leaving it as it is now, and if there is a Memorandum of 

Understanding with Governing Body on this issue, they could address that. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll come back to commission questions after you go through these. 

Let’s move on to your next point. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Sure thing. Stipulation No. 9 talks about trash enclosures. Chris showed 

how we tried to comply with the code. It was built into the overhang structure of the 

bank. For the functional reasons, he discussed about how we felt it was best for the 

restaurant and best for the bank. As a team, we discussed that we knew it would look nice 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 17 - October 23, 2018 

because we’re bringing in a great restaurant tenant with a patio that overlooks this 

direction. We know it will have to look excellent. For these functional, pragmatic 

reasons, we would ask that the last line of No. 9, which reads, “At the time of Final Plan, 

the applicant shall relocate the proposed trash enclosure at the bank,” be struck. We hope 

that you could find a way to support our design. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Staff would be more comfortable leaving it as it is because it gives us a bit 

more flexibility at the time of Final Plan. We have always required the trash enclosures to 

be attached directly to the buildings so they can be maintained a little better. It also 

allows them to be more visually integrated into the design as opposed to just being stuck 

on the end of the building. Staff would prefer that it remain as is. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I guess I’m not sure how this gives any more flexibility than if it were 

not in there. You still have the flexibility to change it at the time of Final Plan.  

 

Mr. Klein:  We are just concerned that, if it is taken out, the applicant will come and say 

that they already have it approved at that location. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Don’t they have the same risk that you will come back at the time of 

Final Plan application? 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is a requirement of the LDO, so there is not a deviation to it. We would 

be looking to ensure that the criterion is met.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is their proposal not attached to the bank building? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I believe it is on the end. It might be attached to the pillars themselves, but it 

is not integrated in with the building architecturally. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They said themselves that there is no trash enclosure at the bank currently. 

These enclosures that are freestanding are for the restaurant. There are no trash 

enclosures provided for the new building that is going to have those restaurants. That is 

where these should be located. We would be glad to work with them between now and 

Final Plan to locate those.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  With all due respect, we’d like to deal with this now because when we 

kick things further down the road, there is less flexibility. We feel it is not that 

complicated. As a point of clarification on what this trash enclosure is used for, this 

would be used for the restaurant. It became a functional problem. We’re not going to put 

it in our beautiful pedestrian area. The bank does not currently have a trash enclosure. 

They traipse across to a dumpster on the north side. We have walked around this entire 

site, and we believe that, aesthetically and functionally, this is the best way to do it. 

Speaking to the code, it says that it shall be architecturally attached to the individual 

buildings. I know from experience both in this city and other cities, when we talk about 

the structure with masonry columns and footings in the ground, it is treated as part of the 

building, and we are attaching to that. 
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Chairman Elkins:  In your view, you would be attached to the building. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Absolutely.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Let’s go to your third stipulation. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Because of the utility infrastructure you saw on the ground, we would 

suggest that, instead of having the sentence in Stipulation No. 18 that refers to following 

the LDO’s requirements on street trees along both 95th and Mission, the new language 

says that we will follow the code provisions with respect to 95th Street; however, when it 

comes to Mission Road, because we truly believe it would be a mistake to try to jam trees 

into that beehive of utility infrastructure, we would like to ask you to restate the 

stipulation to require us to allocate all those required trees along Mission Road to other 

parts of the project. That is what we have done in the plan. We think we’re going to have 

a great site on Mission. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  Some of those utilities they are showing in that location have not been 

placed yet. Those utilities can be moved over underneath the sidewalk or closer to the 

curb. I worked on planting trees all over, and we have planted trees on 12th Street 

downtown, where there are more utilities than there are here and underground vaults. We 

have been able to get trees in successfully. I think we could work with the utility 

companies and the applicant to get them adjusted so the trees could be planted there. The 

roots of the trees are not going down 10’. Most tree roots are in the first 3’ of the ground. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I don’t want to be overly repetitive. I know we talked to KCP&L, and they 

had a strong preference that we not do this. I think the argument is pretty intuitive. 

Whether we can try to do it is not the question; the question is if this is pragmatic for 

trees that are going to grow for 20-30 years. I’m not an arborist, but whether you’re 

talking about ornamental or shade trees, they have a significant root infrastructure, which 

is why the utility company is concerned. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does the utility right-of-way cover not only where the proposed trees 

will go but also where the sidewalk is? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  What I don’t know for sure is whether or not we’re dedicating the full 5’ 

or some of the sidewalk or all of the sidewalk. There will be placement for it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do you want to go to your fourth stipulation? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes, sir. I’m going to mention No. 21 just because it’s on the page. Staff 

said this was a duplicate, and we agree with that. The final suggestion has to do with No. 

23, speaking to the two stalls on the west side. We would like to remove this stipulation. 

Because of Chris’s design to bump it out on the west side of the parking lot, we think 

those are functional parking spaces. We would ask that you allow us to keep those. 
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Mr. Ley:  We’re fine with removing those. It gives them room to put a tree in those 

locations. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Anything else, Mr. Petersen? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Sometimes, it is tempting to defer architectural discussion to Final Plan, 

but similar to a previous plan that we talked about, it can be hard on a design team and 

the owner’s time and resources. You have been able to hear Chris present about 

elevations. We would love to hear about that as we move forward with the city in a 

public-private partnership. We invite you to offer comments. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Questions for Mr. Petersen? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Staff said we could address some things during Final Plan. I’d like to 

hear your thoughts on someone working in the office building and wants to go to 

O’Neill’s. How do they safely get over there? 

 

Mr. Olsson:  If you’re working in that new building, you’re going to walk through this 

exciting new public plaza that we have. We have a sidewalk system that runs the entire 

length of the building and is covered all the way to that point. When it is raining or 

snowing, you are under cover for the vast majority of that walk over to O’Neill’s.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  I think people look for the shortest distance between two points. You 

talked about how you pulled the parking south, creating a sidewalk up there to have 

people get across the development. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  I understand your point. I try to keep pedestrian traffic from commercial 

development away from some of those things if we can, if we can accommodate it other 

directions. I think your point is well taken between the retail and the connection. I think 

we could work on a crosswalk to make that happen. I don’t think getting patrons and 

people across the drive, along the residential property and the school, and back down is a 

path that people would take more than being part of the active environment with loading 

docks and trucks.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  The other question was about the McDonald’s circulation. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  I had a conference call with McDonald’s corporate, working through this 

Site Plan. There are positives and negatives to the plan for them. Right now, they have a 

dedicated entrance off 95th Street. Consolidating that was a discussion and a concern. I 

think we tried to do our best everywhere we could to increase throat depth and safety. It’s 

a huge thing. How do we slow people down? We’re using speed tables and crosswalks. I 

think we can continue to refine, but I don’t know if we’re going to be able to essentially 

make that a one-way access based on the user inflow and how this site works. I 

understand the McDonald’s at 119th and Roe and how that works. This one is just slightly 

different in how it operates. We’re still working through some of the operational 

challenges McDonald’s has with this layout. We’re going to continue to refine that plan. 
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Mr. Petersen:  Just to add context, the reason we’re having these conversations is any 

change that is happening here is happening as a cooperative group. What Chris is 

implying is that so far, everyone has been cooperative, but anything that, we couldn’t be 

sure that would be supported. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Commissioner Belzer, have you gotten your questions answered, or do 

you care to put them back to the applicant? 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I’m curious what tenants you’ve secured for the new structures. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  You’re going to get the ever-exciting answer that is sincere. At this point, 

there’s nothing I can share because of confidentiality. I think you’ll be happy with what 

this huge remake will do to the offerings to the public.  

 

Mr. Hafner:  You asked about ownership and architectural style. This isn’t the same. I 

like Ranch Mart South. This is a big paradigm shift from the architecture of Ranch Mart 

South. It retained the big overhangs, shake roofs, and craftsman style. This is much more 

modern, much different materiality. I would put this more in the architecture style of 

Apple and Crate & Barrel at 119th and Roe.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  Just like Camelot is not the same at One Nineteen. They are 

complementary but not the same. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other questions for the applicant?  

 

Comm. Stevens:  Approval of the landscape is not really part of this right now, but to go 

back to the stipulation that you’re proposing on No. 18 with the offset of trees along 

Mission and increasing those 18 trees and 52 ornamental trees, to be clear, the current 

internal number of trees is just meeting the requirements. This would be an addition of 

trees in landscaped areas within the internal site? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That is a good clarification. We anticipated this and already distributed 

those. The 18 and 52 trees called for on Mission Road are distributed through the rest of 

the site. We are going beyond code internally. 

 

Mr. Klein:  I want to make a clarification as far as landscaping with street trees. There 

isn’t a deviation in the LDO for this. I don’t believe Planning Commission or City 

Council has the ability to approve removal of the street trees under this process. We 

talked with Public Works. It is our understanding that we have this condition of street 

trees along frontages throughout the city. A lot of utilities are running through there as 

well. Additionally, they will add some dirt on top of some of these, which will make it a 

bit easier. I wanted to make sure everybody understands the process. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is the LDO reference? 
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Mr. Klein:  It is Section 16-4-7.3(b)1. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  This is a pretty important point, I think. With respect to code 

interpretation, 16-3-9A is where we believe there is the ability for this body to 

recommend a deviation. I’ll stop there, but I’m happy to go deeper if you would like. 

 

Mr. Ley:  Can I talk to that a bit? If you give this deviation, you will give this deviation to 

every development and every resident along the property within Leawood. There are 

utility lines in the right-of-way in front of everybody’s property. This is something we 

deal with all the time. As a matter of fact, we’re burying the power lines north of Ranch 

Mart, and KCP&L is actually boring those underneath the existing trees. AT&T and 

Time Warner will do the same. It is something utilities deal with all the time. We have 

never had pushback from the utilities with boring. It is actually required if there are street 

trees. As far as staff is concerned, it is not an issue that we would have concerns with the 

utilities. Their cross-section is not really accurate. It shows the curbs on the parking lot as 

the same elevation as Mission Road, and the curbs on the parking lot sit down about 1.5’. 

That is where we get into being able to fill on top of that area where the trees will be 

planted by close to 2’ to give enough dirt for the trees to grow. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  In an effort to move this along, Mark, frequently, we will see 

applications like this come before us where we have a stipulation that a Landscape Plan 

acceptable to both parties will be submitted prior to Final Plan. I don’t think we are going 

to resolve this issue as far as the trees being there or not being there during the course of 

this meeting. I don’t want to hold up the application. Is there a practical solution we can 

use with an alternate stipulation? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Typically, we would say that they have to come back with a Landscape Plan 

that meets the requirements of the LDO. That is what we would be looking for. With 

regard to Section 16-3-9(A)1, part of that is that the deviation does not violate the general 

purposes, goals, and objectives of this ordinance and the regulations subject to the 

deviation and other replicable regulations. Part of that is the whole point of having street 

trees is to have tree-lined streets. As David indicated, we see this all the time on different 

commercial developments. You can see it would make a big difference if none of them 

had street trees. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We have no ulterior motive. This is not a money issue. We want it to be 

done well. We’d like to figure it out now, but it seems like there are factual questions that 

need to be nailed down. If there is some way to move it along with some 

acknowledgement that there may be utility conflicts and we will all work together to find 

out if that’s true, we would be great with that. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I think there is a way to move this application along. Whether or not we 

are qualified to tell you if there is conflict with utility lines, we are qualified to interpret 

the rules and regulations as far as our LDO is concerned and look for alternatives to move 

the application along. Mark, while I appreciate you clarifying the section on the 

deviation, I’ll ask you again if we can incorporate that standard stipulation regarding the 
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Landscape Plan, and then you can figure out what this is in the right forum? This is not 

the forum to get to the resolution for this problem? 

 

Mr. Klein:  As you said, landscaping is approved at the time of Final Plan, and they just 

have to meet the LDO. Typically, that is the stipulation. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  If we struck No. 21 and incorporate the standard stipulation in its place, 

would that be acceptable to the planning department? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Our point is if a deviation is ultimately needed, we are asking to look at the 

facts carefully outside of this body. If the deviation is justified because of conflicts, we 

would ask for support. If it’s not, it’s not. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  From what I’m reading and doing it on the fly, I think there is a valid 

question as to whether this would fall within the deviation under the LDO. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  I don’t think you want me to argue, but I could argue right now in support 

and explain it. I’m only holding back out of respect. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I appreciate that. Why don’t you step back, and we’ll go to the Public 

Hearing? 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Strauss; seconded by Coleman. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to discussion. I’ll first entertain a discussion of the 

proposed plan, saving the question about the stipulation changes. Let’s begin by talking 

about the proposed plan.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  The general comment is this is a great opportunity that Leawood has 

been waiting for to update the other half of Ranch Mart. We appreciate this opportunity 

before us.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I’ll sum it up in one word: outstanding. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I agree with that, and I appreciate the work that both the ownership 

team and design team have done. This is a challenging space. As Mr. Petersen said, 

we’ve waited a long time. This is a positive step in the right direction with respect to that 

particular piece of property. Let’s go to the stipulations in question. I’m going to take 

them in order and get a decision from the commission on each of them. Then we’ll go to 

a final motion that incorporates the decisions that are made on those. For the record, I 

would ask that this sheet be included in the record of tonight’s proceedings (referring to 

summary of stipulations being challenged provided by the applicant). Let’s start with No. 
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4 with reference to the burial of utilities and power lines and the condition of a final 

occupancy permit. The applicant has suggested that it be qualified to the new 

construction that is proposed here. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  The way it is currently written in our packet, could existing businesses 

turn over and have new occupancy? I think that is the concern of the developer. 

 

Mr. Klein:  This has to do with this particular project before you. These stipulations are 

attached to the improvements they are doing on this application. It doesn’t mean they 

can’t change tenants. Staff’s primary concern is if you place the requirement on a specific 

building and the building doesn’t get constructed, then they never get buried.  

 

Comm. Strauss:  They’ve started redevelopment, and maybe burying is one of the last 

tasks, but existing developments can turn over during construction. 

 

Mr. Klein:  They would be doing parking lot improvements and landscaping as part of 

this overall site. We would think that would be when the power lines would be dropped. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The problem with that is that it’s not what No. 4 says. It says that this 

must be done prior to final occupancy of any building within the project. We’ve already 

established the project includes the re-sheathing, if you will, of existing buildings. If 

that’s the case and they lost a tenant, no other occupant could go in that space until the 

power lines are buried. I think there is a fair question there. I understand the city might 

interpret that differently and apply it differently, but based strictly on the language in 

here, no building in the project can be occupied until the lines are buried. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I kind of agree with that. There is certainly some way to get this worked 

out. I understand they will be under construction in part of this and have a change in 

tenant in another part. We wouldn’t want to hold that up. There’s a lot to this whole 

project. That is why I mentioned a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). Maybe this 

says something that they agree to work out an MOU prior to some date set for the burial 

of power lines, or we may need to get more specific about the burial of the power lines on 

Mission Road. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do you think it’s reasonable that an MOU could be achieved before 

Governing Body considers this proposal? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  It’s possible. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Or at least before Final Plan comes before us? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I would think so. I think we could work it out. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That’s a great point. I try not to say things that are superfluous for this 

body, but there is a public-private partnership that has already been discussed. There is a 

formal process that happens. There will be a development agreement, which I can 
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promise based on experience with Camelot that burial of the power lines will 100% be a 

condition. We are required to do this. The key part that you just triggered in my brain is 

that the Final Plan, which should be done per normal city process, on or about the same 

time as the development agreement, so there may be something to what you are getting 

at, which is this may be documented by the city by the time we get to Final Plan. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I’d be okay with that. 

 

Comm. Block:  Staff is asking for any building; the applicant is asking for the last 

building. Why don’t we just put in the second sentence, “This must be done prior to final 

occupancy of any new building”? It sounds like that’s what staff is actually getting at. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think staff is concerned about the highly unlikely event that the new 

building is not constructed. 

 

Comm. Block:  There are two buildings, and I thought the concern was the two-story 

building and the back would not be constructed. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think it’s either one. Again, I think it’s very unlikely. If we can get 

this approved, it is going to happen. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  I think putting something in there about the MOU being developed prior 

to the time of Final Plan approval, it would provide for the burial of the power lines along 

Mission and 95th. This is our standard language, and this isn’t probably a standard 

project. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Pateidl, do you have some language to offer up? 

 

Comm. Pateidl: I would modify the last sentence, “This must be done prior to the final 

occupancy of the new construction,’ which is really what the applicant is asking for, 

“subject to applicant and Governing Body entering into a Memorandum of 

Understanding on existing tenant space prior to Final Plan.”  

 

Mr. Petersen:  I was thinking the MOU, which will actually be a development agreement, 

would be the subject of burial of the utility lines versus the existing tenant space, but I 

know we’re on the same page. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I think we’re pushing the edge of the envelope.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  You think we’re saying the same thing? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  No, I think what I interpret your concern is that you don’t want to be 

restricted from doing business in the normal course of business with the existing facilities 

that you have. You have new construction coming in, and you’re saying it will all be 

buried before you get to that. I don’t want to get into the issue of buried utilities; I only 

want to get into the issue of your doing business. I’m leaving you the opportunity with 
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this alteration to enter into a Memorandum of Understanding regarding your ability to 

function as you should on the tenant space, should new tenants be required in that regard 

so that you’re not locked out of occupancy. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  That is a great clarification. We are in agreement to keep business going. 

We just need to make sure the language says that. We agree. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It sounds like we have an agreement, in principle, between staff and 

the applicant with respect to No. 4. At this time, I would entertain a motion with respect 

to the commission approving that change to Stipulation No. 4. 

 

A motion to amend Stipulation No. 4 to include the verbiage: “This must be done 

prior to the final occupancy of the new construction, subject to applicant and 

Governing Body entering into a Memorandum of Understanding on existing tenant 

space prior to Final Plan.” – was made by Pateidl; seconded by Strauss. Motion 

carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The next stipulation in question deals with the trash enclosure. 

Comments from the commission? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I actually have a question for staff. I’m not sure I understood some of 

the earlier comments regarding this trash enclosure. Are we talking about a trash 

enclosure for the bank or everything else? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Currently, the bank doesn’t have a trash enclosure. They originally came in 

with a big bank of trash enclosures along the north property line. This is, in large part, for 

other tenants within the development.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  This is not an issue related to the bank itself? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The applicant might be able to clarify a bit more. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Let me ask in a different way. Currently, they do not have a trash 

enclosure, and they are not making any changes to their building. Currently, this work 

shouldn’t impact their business at all. I would guess they would be grandfathered to not 

have a trash enclosure. It is not a bank issue. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  By any stretch of the imagination, if this is really related to the 

restaurants, I’m at a loss for words for explaining how I feel about forcing the issue of a 

trash enclosure being attached to the building of a bank. I think the alternative, whether 

it’s a loose interpretation of the columns as part of the building, and as an 

accommodation to do this rather than have these enclosures on the north side next to the 
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residents and the balance of it, is there really a strong ground to say this proposal doesn’t 

meet the spirit of the law as well as the letter of the law? 

 

Mr. Klein:  The interpretation is a big part of it. I know Mr. Petersen indicated it just had 

to be attached, but the LDO says it needs to be integrated into the design of the building. 

That’s where we’re looking for a little more than putting it on the side of the building. 

This is something that could be visible from 95th Street. We’re not saying they can’t place 

it somewhere else on the site that might work a bit better. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Where is the alternative? 

 

Mr. Klein:  There might be opportunities to have it someplace else. I know they indicated 

they looked at that. Maybe it would take a bit more discovery to determine if there is 

another spot. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  They are building a completely new building that has no trash enclosures. 

I would suggest that the completely new building incorporate trash enclosures with it 

because that’s what these are for. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  What is the objection to the modification of Stipulation No. 9 by adding 

the verbiage, “At the time of Final Plan, the applicant shall relocate the proposed trash 

enclosure at the NBKC Bank”? Isn’t that what you’re asking them to do? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Either relocate it or integrate it more with the building architecture. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  You want it relocated from the column to somewhere, and that’s what 

this modification to the stipulation says, at least in my mind.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  The applicant wants to strike that. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  If you heard me say that it wasn’t for the bank, that’s a key fact in the 

analysis. The bank doesn’t have any sort of exterior trash other than walking across to the 

dumpster on the north property line. This is for the bank. Then also the restaurant space, 

which is approximate to it, needs a trash enclosure. We asked how we could meet the 

code, which is not free-floating trash enclosures and not aesthetically pleasing. We would 

be open for staff to give suggestions on design for the non-masonry part. It is anchored 

by a building that uses the trash enclosure as well as the building across from it. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I have two questions. Who has the deed to the property the bank is 

located on?  

 

Mr. Petersen:  We own the land; the bank owns the building. It’s a ground lease. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Has the bank agreed to this? 
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Mr. Petersen:  This is something we would be able to do under the agreement. I don’t 

know if they’ve specifically agreed to it because this was a late design change, so 

probably not. I’m not worried about this because they don’t even have a dumpster right 

now. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  This may be a question for the architect. What do you see as an 

alternative for the trash enclosures for the restaurant? 

 

Mr. Hafner:  I really struggled with it because we wanted to create this pedestrian 

pathway from the east parking lot into our new plaza area. That’s where a lot of those 

dumpsters sit right now. Again, we had a more consolidated location, but it was closer to 

the residences and was not architecturally attached. As Mr. Petersen mentioned, we 

walked around this building and other locations to try to find a good location for that. For 

the new building we’re building, we relocated those to integrate them into the 

architecture of the north side of Price Chopper in a nook. We just ran out of room from 

the standpoint of the ability to put the trash enclosures up there. Then pragmatically, a 

restaurant user not dragging trash across the plaza to the northwest to get to those 

enclosures was important to us to be able to get out of their service area in the back and 

get across the parking lot in a short, efficient manner to be able to put it in to something 

here. This was my idea. I tried to put it on the north. I thought it would make more sense 

on the north of the bank building. There’s just no space. Everything has already been 

occupied by exit doors or existing HVAC. I thought the columns were integral to the 

building. We’ll make the masonry match the bank building. It won’t necessarily match 

the architecture of what we’re doing on the rest of the shopping center, but I want it to 

look like it’s part of the bank building. That was the thought process. It wasn’t going 

inboard of either column and just setting something in there. It’s bigger than what it 

needs to be because I wanted to make sure we spanned from column to column and 

created something a little more substantial that did make it architecturally part of the 

building. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I recall at Mission Farms, there is a trash enclosure that is across the 

parking lot from the buildings on the north, totally enclosed, gates and all. Why wouldn’t 

a trash enclosure of that nature be allowed on this, or would it be allowed on this? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We have had trash enclosures in the past that were shared. Part of this issue is 

the aesthetics of the trash enclosure. They mentioned that there were utilities on the north 

side of the bank. In the past, we’ve also had some who would enclose an enclosure that 

would accommodate both utilities and the trash enclosure. We’re looking for something 

that doesn’t look stuck on to the end of the building, looking like it’s freestanding. We’re 

looking for it to be more integrated with the design of the building. To Richard’s point, 

they have a lot of buildings that are being constructed new. This is probably the easiest 

time to find an opportunity to move it into a different location.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  As long as we’re going to be looking at planning this, I personally have 

my doubts if the bank would be fine with it. I wouldn’t do it if I were the bank. To have 

this freestanding as an alternative so we get some orderly conduct of trash control, which 
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is extremely important with the residents and the school, and if we’ve allowed this in 

other developments and it’s been acceptable, at least have those cards still in the deck.  

 

Mr. Klein:  A lot of it is the design. You mentioned maintenance of the trash enclosure. 

That is a huge issue. It’s part of the reason this requirement exists in the LDO. When the 

city allowed trash enclosures in the parking lot, they weren’t maintained very well. In this 

particular case, the trash enclosure faces away from the bank. The bank has no visual if 

the gates are open or closed. The city is looking for something that is a little bit more 

integrated into the building so there’s more of a tendency to make sure that it is 

maintained. Across the street from us now is a trash enclosure that many people don’t 

realize is there. They designed it in such a way to make it look like it was integral to the 

design of the building. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I want to make sure I’m tracking correctly. As I understand the LDO, 

freestanding trash enclosures are not permitted. Am I mistaken in that? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No, and part of what we want is to make sure it is not only attached to a 

column only and then is otherwise freestanding; we are looking for it to be integrated into 

the architecture of the building itself. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think I misunderstood. I thought the suggestion was, at Mission 

Farms, we had a freestanding trash enclosure. That’s not the case, correct? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I honestly don’t remember. It is possible. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That is water under the bridge. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  How often is the trash accessed? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  For putting trash in or removing trash? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I guess both. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  Putting trash in would be every day from a restaurant standpoint; from the 

bank, not so much. Removal, I would think for something that size and use, it is probably 

ever 2-3 days. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Have you looked at a trash truck and its maneuverability to get between 

those parking spaces? 

 

Mr. Hafner:  We deal with that quite a bit. Most of the time, trash trucks are showing up 

at off hours for commercial delivery. We would coordinate that as well to make sure that 

path is clear. Again, I had a different location that didn’t meet the LDO, and we are trying 

to be respectful of that. I do think we would work with the trash company to make sure 

they had proper access to those enclosures. 
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Comm. Strauss:  Can you tell me the tradeoffs? The obvious location is back by the 

delivery dock where no pedestrians walk. I’m sure you considered that early on. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  We did put some of them there. Some of our new locations are just east of 

the retaining wall at the loading dock (shows on the monitor). The original consolidated 

trash enclosure was back with the stalls. When we met with staff, we tried to find some 

locations. We found the ability to put them in the locations shown on the plan. The 

problem is I couldn’t get the number of dumpster locations in those two spots. We had a 

user that needed more, so that’s where this location came into play. The lineal footage of 

all three of those locations equaled the consolidated location I originally showed. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  To state the obvious, if it was as easy as drawing another dumpster in the 

back, I promise we would not have wasted 30 minutes of your time.  

 

Mr. Hafner:  We’re trying to do nice, four-sided architecture on the new building as well, 

so we want to maintain that. You can see the cemetery and the location of the trash 

dumpster. The view from the public way or vast majority of the parking lot would not be 

impacted by that location. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Where is the front door? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  It would look out across the patio. The restaurant is never going to let this 

look bad. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  They look that way, and they have an outdoor patio that wraps behind the 

screen wall that dedicates their outdoor space. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  That seems awkward that 2-3 times a day, someone will walk out the 

front door with trash. 

 

Mr. Hafner:  We have a screened service area on the back of the building. It is an existing 

building with gas and power. We have a new building going in with an elaborate screen 

wall that sits off the face of that building 10’ with landscaping in front of it. We’ve got 

service access. In reality, the back-of-house for this restaurant user would come out the 

back and not out of the front door.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other thoughts or comments about how we can solve this issue? 

 

Comm. Coleman:  I would just agree that it is difficult. I will say that the bank’s drive-

through is right next to that, and I’m sure the bank will not be happy, as their people 

going through the drive-through will catch the odors. Also, the people eating outside of 

the restaurant could be affected as well. It is a difficult situation. I don’t have a solution, 

but I don’t think the current location will work. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Since this is a Preliminary Plan and the architect hasn’t figured out how 

to solve the problem, we’re probably not going to figure it out tonight, either. I suggest a 
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modification to the last sentence of No. 9 to read, “At the time of Final Plan, the applicant 

shall have proposed trash enclosures that meet the provisions of the LDO.” 

 

Chairman Elkins:  How is that different than the first long sentence of paragraph 9? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  The only difference is it says that the applicant shall relocate the 

proposed trash enclosures from the bank, which at this point in time presupposes that the 

argument over whether or not that location is a fixed part of the building is resolved. I 

don’t believe Mr. Petersen feels that it is. I do believe Mr. Klein thinks that it is. 

Therefore, we’re at a standstill. They are required to come back with proposed locations 

at Final Plan. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Isn’t that what the current language says?  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  The argument I would make is that, should Mr. Petersen win the 

argument as to what is a fixture of the building, that location at the bank would be 

acceptable under the LDO. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  The challenge is that it is, at least in part, up to us to decide who the 

winner of that argument is. Who else is going to make that decision? If they’re at an 

impasse, Mark is going to have his position; Mr. Petersen is going to have his. That is 

what we’re here for. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  That is what we’re here for in the Final Plan when it’s brought to us. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That’s a fair point. Any additional thoughts? Does staff care to 

comment on the proposed wording? 

 

Mr. Klein:  Usually, at the time of Final Plan, the architecture is approved. There might 

be an opportunity for a little more exploration as far as how that can be done to meet the 

LDO. The applicant also indicated the architecture and hoped you would review it. He 

indicated that now is the time that it gets tentatively approved. We look at other things at 

Preliminary and look at architecture at the time of Final. I think it would be acceptable.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  I just respectfully think you accomplish your goals by deleting it because 

the sentence that is left says we have to meet the LDO. We’ll work with the City 

Administrator, City Attorney, and staff. There is no motive other than to make this work. 

We are all on the same page. We want it to look good. If you delete the last sentence, it 

doesn’t mean we can put it there; it means that we’ll have to come back to discuss it at 

Final Plan. With leaving the sentence in, it is presupposing that we have to move it from 

this location. That is our concern. I think the city still holds the cards by deleting the last 

sentence. I know that’s somewhat repetitive. Thank you for letting me have that closing 

statement. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I concur. 
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Chairman Elkins:  I tend to agree with that as well; although, I think we need to confirm 

the language of the LDO. 

 

Mr. Klein:  “Loading dock service areas are not permitted on the street side of a building 

unless approved as part of the development plan. In all cases, the areas shall be screened 

from view with landscaping, architectural elements designed as part of the building, or 

structure enclosures and service elements such as loading doors shall be integrated within 

the building elevation design so as to minimize visual impact of such elements. Any 

loading docks or loading areas shall be completely screened from the public streets by a 

solid wall, fence, evergreen plantings. The design of the trash enclosures must be shown 

on the Preliminary and Final Plan. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  It really doesn’t say that the trash enclosures have to be integrated. 

 

Mr. Klein:  We’re looking at it as part of Enclosures. “Enclosures and service elements, 

such as loading doors, shall be integrated.” Although it gave loading doors as an 

example, we are looking at and enclosure as being part of that. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  One possibility I would suggest is to strike the last sentence as 

requested by Mr. Petersen, but I would add in to the third line, “. . . be architecturally 

attached and integrated into the individual buildings.” This makes what we are looking 

for clear. Thoughts from my colleagues? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I concur. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I concur. 

 

Comm. Block:  That’s fine, but I didn’t hear him say “attached.” All I heard was 

“integrated.” 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I heard it the same way. That’s why I’m proposing both. 

 

Mr. Klein:  You’re correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does someone care to make a motion? 

 

A motion to modify Stipulation No. 9 to strike the last sentence: “At the time of 

Final Plan, the applicant shall relocate the proposed trash enclosure at the NBKC 

Bank” and add to the third line, “. . . be architecturally attached and integrated into 

the individual buildings” – was made by Strauss; seconded by Pateidl. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I would say for the record that, from my perspective, the fact that we 

are striking the last sentence should not be interpreted as an endorsement that the 

enclosure as proposed in the plan is something the commission is endorsing. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I agree. 
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Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll move on to the trees. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  We took that out and said there will be a Landscape Plan in accordance 

with the LDO for the Final Plan. 

 

Chairman Pateidl:  How does the applicant feel about that? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  If that language is used, it settles the issue that we necessarily have to plant 

in what I am calling the beehive. I’m pretty sure we all agree that if there are conflicts, 

we need to visit the portion of the LDO that I cited. I believe a deviation could be 

granted. If we have more time with City Administrator and City Attorney and determine 

there really are ways to pragmatically plant the trees, I promise we will plant the trees. If 

we can get language to say that we will work on it and not just to say that the LDO stands 

because that would imply we have to plant no matter what, but that we go to work with 

then professinals of the city and utility companies to determine if this is something that is 

really pragmatic. Hopefully, that’s a good compromise. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Commissioner Pateidl, could you repeat what you are 

proposing for Stipulation No. 17? 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  First, I would ask staff to cite what our standard stipulation is regarding 

Landscape Plans. We may modify that from that point. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Usually, it’s, “At the time of Final Site Plan, the applicant shall provide a 

Landscape Plan that meets all requirements of the LDO.”  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I don’t know if you want to incorporate anything more in conjunction to 

Mr. Petersen’s request regarding the utilities and working with that or if that is broad-

based enough to allow you the opportunity to take this to the proper forum. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  All we are asking is you add that it is an acknowledgement by this body 

that a discussion needs to happen to figure out if there are conflicts. We’re asking you to 

acknowledge that the discussion happen and that the facts be determined. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  However we go, the Landscape Plan has to comply with the LDO.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  It could include a deviation if there are conflicts. That is why this is a bit 

more complicated. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  And we may have to decide that at the time of Final Plan. 
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Mr. Petersen:  Fair enough. If there is an acknowledgement that we will determine if 

there are conflicts, work with staff, and show up at Final Plan to be in accordance with 

the LDO or ask for a deviation if we all agree that this can’t pragmatically be done, it 

would be acceptable. I don’t think there is a lot of disagreement in the room.  

 

Comm. Pateidl:  Mark, if I understand what you said earlier, this is not a matter we can 

grant a deviation on. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That is where there is a disagreement between the applicant and staff. 

 

Comm. Belzer:  We wouldn’t be able to acknowledge that, then. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That’s a legal issue for them to resolve. At the end of the day, the 

Landscape Plan has to comply with the LDO. We may have to take up in front of the 

commission at Final Plan if staff and the applicant can’t come to an agreement, then it 

falls in our lap as to whether a deviation can or should be granted. I would leave the 

language exactly as Mark said. I think the record in front of us is sufficient to answer the 

question about what the commission expects in terms of the conversation between the 

applicant and staff going forward. Do I hear a motion to that extent? 

 

A motion to modify Stipulation No. 18 (which is now Stipulation No. 17 due to prior 

revisions) to read, “At the time of Final Site Plan, the applicant shall provide a 

Landscape Plan that meets all requirements of the LDO” - was made by Coleman; 

seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, 

Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I think everybody agreed to the duplication issue, and that takes us to 

No. 23. What I thought I heard was that staff agreed to the deletion of No. 23. Do I 

understand that correctly? 

 

Mr. Coleman:  We didn’t have an issue. They’re moving it over so they can get that in 

there. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What we end up with is what we have on the record for the change to 

Nos. 4, 9, 18, and the changes that staff incorporated at the beginning of their 

presentation. Now, we have 32 stipulations. Mr. Petersen, are you in agreement? 

 

Mr. Petersen:  Yes. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I wanted to add a stipulation that we’ve talked about related to the safety 

of the egress out of McDonald’s. I heard the city and the applicant say they could look at 

it further. I would like to add that the city and developer will continue to identify the 

safety concern of the northwest egress from McDonald’s. I see that as a daily safety 

issue. I’ll back down and not add anything on the north pedestrian access. I agree that is 

not as frequent, but the other is a daily safety concern. 
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Chairman Elkins:  What is your expectation if staff and the applicant come back and say 

they conclude that the current proposal is the best they can do, which is what I think I 

heard both staff and the applicant say? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I don’t know. I just see that this was very similar to 119th and Roe, and 

that was a problem that got resolved. I don’t see why this issue can’t be resolved at this 

location. It was acknowledged as a problem at 119th and Roe. I think that it would come 

down to my vote with the final design. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  What is it you would like them to come back with? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I would like to see ingress only at that location and not egress. What I 

heard the applicant say is it is something that could be evaluated. That is just not a safe 

movement in the opinion of someone who works in the transportation business. Turning 

left and either going north or south on Mission Road is just a safety problem. It wouldn’t 

be designed that way if we were designing this site from scratch.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Go ahead and state your proposed stipulation. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I could propose we change it now if the commission is on board with it. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We can go either way; I agree. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Maybe there is some circumstance that I don’t know about. I just want 

to let the commission and City Council know that it is a safety concern. I’d like the city 

and developer to work it out and see what they come back with at Final Plan.  

 

Chairman Elkins: The stipulation would be that the city and the applicant will reconsider 

the traffic flow around McDonald’s on the southwest corner of the project? 

 

A motion to add Stipulation No. 33 to read, “The city and the applicant will 

reconsider the traffic flow around McDonald’s on the southwest corner of the 

project” was made by Strauss; seconded by Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Ley, do you care to comment? I think what we’re asking you to do 

is to reconsider it. When we get to Final Plan, if you say it’s the same, we’ll have to 

consider whether we’re willing to recommend it to Governing Body or not. 

 

Mr. Ley:  We’re fine with that. Staff is fine to discuss that with the applicant. This site is 

different than 119th and Roe. The way the access is, the building would be rotated 90 

degrees with access leaving the drive-in, going north. We could try to move the access a 

little to the east, but trying to create one-ways and people backing up into the parking lot 

might be difficult. We can work with the applicant. 

 

Mr. Petersen:  We all had trouble hearing in the back. 
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Chairman Elkins:  The stipulation is the applicant and staff are directed to reconsider the 

traffic ingress and egress patterns around the McDonald’s on the southwest corner of the 

project.  

 

Mr. Petersen:  That is acceptable. I would add on that this was a request to do our best 

and work with staff, we’ll do that all day long. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That’s all we’re asking. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  I think McDonald’s accepted one-way access at one location we know 

of. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Again, as Commissioner Strauss indicated, if we adopt that, it will be 

up for discussion and decision when we come back for Final Plan. We have a motion and 

second. 

 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, 

Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Are there any other modifications to consider at this point? We’ll 

move on to a discussion of Case 115-18 as has been modified. If there is no additional 

commentary, I would entertain a motion. 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 115-18 – RANCH MART NORTH 

SHOPPING CENTER – REDEVELOPMENT – Request for approval of a 

Rezoning, Preliminary Plan, Preliminary Plat, and Special Use Permit, located 

north of 95th Street and east of Mission Road – with the following adjustments: 

 No. 4: “This must be done prior to the final occupancy of the new 

construction, subject to applicant and Governing Body entering into a 

Memorandum of Understanding on existing tenant space prior to Final 

Plan.” 

 No. 9: Strike the last sentence: “At the time of Final Plan, the applicant shall 

relocate the proposed trash enclosure at the NBKC Bank” and add to the 

third line, “. . . be architecturally attached and integrated into the individual 

buildings” 

 No. 17: remove 

 No. 18 (which is now Stipulation No. 17 due to prior revisions) to read, “At 

the time of Final Site Plan, the applicant shall provide a Landscape Plan that 

meets all requirements of the LDO” 

 No. 23: remove 

 No. 33: Add stipulation to read, “The city and the applicant will reconsider 

the traffic flow around McDonald’s on the southwest corner of the project” 

 No. 34: Modify to read, “. . . 1-33.” 

was made by Coleman; seconded by Belzer. Motion carried with a unanimous vote 

of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 
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Five-minute recess 

 

CASE 116-18 – THREE HALLBROOK PLACE – Request for approval of a Preliminary 

Plan and Preliminary Plat, located south of College Boulevard and west of State Line 

Road. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Ricky Sanchez made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Sanchez:  This is Case 116-18 – Three Hallbrook Place – Request for approval of a 

Preliminary Plan and Preliminary Plat, located south of College Boulevard and west of 

State Line Road. There are changes to be made on the stipulations before you tonight. 

Planning staff would like to remove Nos. 9 and 11 from the list. No. 23 should read, “. . . 

.1-22.” 

 The applicant would like to construct a new four-story office building totaling 

119,853 square feet. The building will be placed along the northeast corner of the lot with 

parking surrounding the west and south sides. Tract A is located along the southwest 

corner of the site and is being used for Best Management Practice (BMP) purposes for 

Two Hallbrook Place south of the located project area and the proposed office building. 

Two entry drives are located at the west side of the site coming off Overbrook Road. Two 

plaza areas are proposed with this project. One is around the entrance, and the second is 

at the northwest corner of the building. Bicycle parking is also proposed on the southwest 

corner of the building, along with a trash enclosure and generator area along the south. 

There are two pedestrian connections coming off Overbrook Road to the office building. 

One comes from College Boulevard; the other comes from State Line Road. Staff’s 

recommendation is that a public amenity area be constructed at the southwest corner of 

College Boulevard and State Line Road to help connect pedestrians offsite into the site. 

The project meets all regulations per the LDO, and staff recommends approval of Case 

116-18 with the stipulations listed in the Staff Report. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions for staff? Seeing none, I will entertain 

a motion to extend the meeting until 9:30. 

 

A motion to extend the meeting until 9:30 was made by Pateidl; seconded by 

Strauss. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, 

Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  We’ll hear from the applicant. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

David Rezac, VanTrust Real Estate, 4900 Main, Suite 400, Kansas City, MO, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Mr. Rezac:  We appreciate the opportunity to be in front of you this evening to present 

our application. We’re very excited about this project. I’ve got a very brief presentation 

to walk you through and offer a bit more detail. (Refers to presentation on the monitor) 
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The site is just south of College Boulevard and west of State Line Road. It is east of 

Overbrook, and to the south is the adjacent Hallbrook parcel. I’m joined tonight by the 

rest of our project team. We have a codeveloper: Chinquapin Trust Company. Our 

architect is Burns & McDonnell. Civil engineer is Phelps Engineering. Our landscape 

architect is BBN Architects. In addition to the 8.37-acre parcel we are building the 

building and parking on, a storm detention tract is located in the southwest corner of the 

site that is included in this proposal. We successfully held our Interact Meeting with 

adjacent neighbors on October 9th. As was mentioned, the office building is 119,853 

gross square feet. It is four stories tall, and we have 469 surface parking spots. The 

building is sited on the high end of the site. There is a lot of grade and terrain change as it 

falls to the southwest. We believe that creates a really great presence and holds the 

primary corner. Per the LDO, the project will be landscaped with many new trees, shrubs, 

and ground cover to seamlessly fit into the rest of the Hallbrook development. As was 

mentioned, we have a 3,600 sq. ft. entry plaza that will be landscaped with seating areas 

and special occasion lighting to enhance the pedestrian experience. Three Hallbrook 

Place is an office building with clean lines, materials, subtle scale, and appropriate 

proportions. This modern office building is a perfect complement to One and Two 

Hallbrook Place and the rest of the Hallbrook development. Schedule-wise, we hope to 

get through both the entitlement process and permit process with the city by mid-summer 

2019, which would allow us to begin construction soon after. Our goal is to have this 

project complete by Fall 2020. We are working diligently with city planning staff to 

ensure our submittal aligns with the design requirements of the LDO. We appreciate all 

their assistance getting to tonight. Lastly, we have read and accept all 22 stipulations in 

the Staff Report. At this point, I’ll open up to any questions you may have. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Mr. Rezak, I can’t tell you how much that pleases us. We are grateful. 

 

Mr. Rezak:  Me, too. 

 

Comm. Coleman:  Do you already have a tenant? 

 

Mr. Rezak: We do not. We are actively pursuing tenants, so if you happen to know 

anybody who would be interested in being in this area, let me know. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? I’m trying to get myself oriented. The old farmhouse 

is where? 

 

Mr. Rezak:  It is to the west of this property.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  If there are no more questions, this application requires a Public 

Hearing. 

 

Public Hearing 
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As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Pateidl; seconded by Strauss. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to a further discussion of Case 116-18. Comments by the 

commission? 

 

Comm. Belzer:  I really like this proposal, especially with the added pedestrian areas and 

connections to Hallbrook Place One and Two. I also like the elevation. We watch 

fireworks from this space every 4th of July. Having it higher up makes it even better. I 

don’t know if you’ve ever been around that area on the 4th of July, but it’s a very heavily 

attended spot.  

 

Comm. Coleman:  I agree with Commissioner Belzer. It’s a great project. It looks 

fabulous. Hallbrook is one of the crown jewels of Leawood, both residential and office 

space. It is definitely a proud addition to Leawood and to the tax rolls as well. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I would concur with that. Other comments? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 116-18 – THREE HALLBROOK 

PLACE – Request for approval of a Preliminary Plan and Preliminary Plat, located 

south of College Boulevard and west of State Line Road with the following 

modifications: remove Stipulation Nos 9 and 11 and modify No. 23 to read, “. . . 1-

22” – was made by Coleman; seconded by Strauss. Motion carried with a 

unanimous vote of 7-0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and 

Stevens. 

 

 

CASE 113-18 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-2-5.3, R-1 (PLANNED SINGLE-FAMILY LOW-DENSITY 

RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT) (15,000 SQ. FEET PER DWELLING) – Request for 

approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to 

exceptions to the side yard setbacks. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is Case 113-18 – Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to 

Section 16-2-5.3, R-1 (Planned Single-Family Low-Density Residential District) with 

regard to deviations to setbacks. At one point, zoning regulations did not have a 15’ side 

yard setback requirement; it was much less than that. Many buildings are located there 

that do not meet this setback. As part of relief to that, the LDO allowed the Board of 

Zoning Appeals (BZA) to grant exceptions as opposed to variances. The difference is that 

a variance has a much higher standard with five factors that are difficult to meet, 

including a unique quality of the property and hardship that cannot be caused by the 

applicant. In recognition of that, an exception was allowed so the BZA could determine if 
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they felt that it had a negative impact on the adjacent property owners. Currently, there 

are side yard exceptions allows for those houses that do not meet the 15’ setback for the 

additions they are putting on; however, there are some things that are located within those 

conditions that make it difficult. I would like to go through that. Currently, the 

requirements for a side yard exception within the R-1 zoning district indicate that the 

existing structure was legally constructed with a side setback of less than 15’. 

Additionally, in no case shall the existing structure and any proposed addition be located 

any closer than 10’ to the property line. The proposed addition will be continuous and 

consistent with the existing side build line of the existing structure. The proposed 

addition shall not cause further encroachment than that of the existing structure. Part of 

the problem the BZA is running into is that many of those buildings are closer than 10’. 

We would like to propose to have the BZA still consider each case, but if the house was 

closer than the 10’, they would still have the ability to apply for an exception rather than 

a variance, which is almost impossible to get. There are two elements they would like to 

remove from these stipulations. One is that the existing structure was legally constructed 

with the side setback of less than 15’, and in no case shall the existing structure of any 

proposed addition be any closer than 10’. By removing these, it allows houses that are 

closer than 10’ to still be eligible for that deviation. The second change is that the current 

requirement is that the proposed addition be continuous and consistent with the existing 

side build lines of the existing structure. That means that wherever the addition is, the 

line of the existing house would continue. An addition could encroach less than the 

current structure that would not be contiguous with the building line. We would like to 

remove that one as well. Again, the BZA would still hear these cases; however, it would 

allow more flexibility for them. Staff is recommending approval, and I would be happy to 

answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Is the practical effect of this that we are lowering the bar that an 

applicant has to show in order to achieve the same results? 

 

Mr. Klein:  We are lowering the bar but still requiring that the review be done. 

 

Chairman Elkins: The standard to grant the requested action by the BZA is being 

lowered, essentially making it easier for an applicant to qualify. 

 

Mr. Klein:  It makes it easier for an applicant to qualify. 

 

Comm. Pateidl:  I just want to be very clear that anything to do with respect to this 

particular provision does not apply to teardown and rebuild as far as setbacks are 

concerned for new structures.  

 

Mr. Klein:  This is meant for additions to existing structures as opposed to razing and 

starting from scratch, yes. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  If there is an existing house that has a 17’ setback and then they add an 

addition that drops it below the 15’, so it didn’t start out lower than 15’. Does that also 

fall within this new guideline? 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 40 - October 23, 2018 

 

Mr. Klein:  That would not be the case because the first one would be kept where the 

existing structure was legally constructed with the side setback of less than 15’. 

 

Comm. Strauss:  That’s what I wanted to clarify.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? If not, a Public Hearing is required. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Pateidl; seconded by Strauss. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-0. For: 

Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to discussion of the proposed amendment. Any 

additional comments? 

 

Comm. Strauss:  Mark, how is what we’re voting on here different than what we’re 

talking about for the next case? Oh, there is no next case.  

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 113-18 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-5.3, R-1 (PLANNED SINGLE-

FAMILY LOW-DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT) (15,000 SQ. FEET PER 

DWELLING) – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood 

Development Ordinance, pertaining to exceptions to the side yard setbacks – was 

made by Strauss; seconded by Stevens. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 7-

0. For: Hunter, Belzer, Pateidl, Strauss, Coleman, Block, and Stevens. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Before we adjourn the meeting, I want to give my thanks to all the 

commissioners as well as staff. We worked hard this evening, but I think we achieved a 

positive result in the cases considered. Sometimes, we have meetings that last 20 

minutes; sometimes, we have meetings that last 3 ½ hours. I very much appreciate the 

work you all went to. Some of the commissioners have recommended that we try to 

anticipate some of the challenges we have with respect to stipulations. I have spoken to 

Mr. Coleman about that. In some cases, staff doesn’t have any advance notice and we 

have to deal with that, but in some cases, they are aware that there is a dispute and will 

try to incorporate that into the package going forward.   

 

 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    November 27, 2018 
REPORT WRITTEN:   November 9, 2018 
 

BI-STATE CENTENNIAL PARK – CENTRAL STATES BEVERAGE – FENCE – REQUEST FOR 
APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL PLAN – Located east of Kenneth Road and north of 143rd Street 
– Case 117-18       **CONSENT AGENDA**         

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 117-18, Bi-State Centennial Park, Central States Beverage fence, 
request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Eric Hughes with Strickland Construction.   

 The property is owned by High Life Sales Company. 

 The engineer is Judd Claussen with Phelps Engineering. 

 The landscape architect is W. Lee Rhoad with Earthworks Architecture. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan for the relocation of a fence along 143rd 
Street. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned BP (Planned Business). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Business Park. 
 
LOCATION:  
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North North of the property is an existing office/warehouse building within the Bi-State Centennial 
Park, zoned BP (Planned Business Park). 

 South South of the property is 143rd Street, beyond which is additional undeveloped land and the 
City of Leawood maintenance facility, zoned BP (Planned Business Park).   

 East East of the property is the remainder of the Central States Beverage site, located within the 
City of Kansas City, Missouri. 

 West West of the property is Overbrook Road and additional businesses within the Bi-State 
Centennial Business Park, zoned BP (Business Park).   

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       
SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 A 6’ tall chain link fence was previously approved with Case 99-15, Central States Warehouse Addition. The 
fence was approved around the perimeter of the parking lot extension on the west side of the property. 

 An existing 6’ tall chain link fence exists on the north side of the parking lot, and south of the driveway located 
on the south side of the property.  

 The proposed fence relocation will move the portion of the fence south of the driveway to the 40’ building line 
adjacent to 143rd Street. 

 The remainder of the fence is to remain as previously approved. 

 No gates are proposed within the area of the relocated fence. 
 

 
 
PARKING:   

 No changes to parking are proposed with this application. 
 

ELEVATIONS:   

 The proposed fence will be constructed of chain link and will match the existing chain link fence on the 
property. 
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LANDSCAPING:    

 No additional landscaping is proposed with this application. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 No changes to lighting are proposed with this application.  
 

SIGNAGE:   

 No new signage is proposed with this application. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 117-18, Bi-State Centennial Park, Central 
States Beverage fence, request for approval of a revised final plan, with the following stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to the relocation of a 6’ tall chain link fence along the southern and southwestern 

property line of the Bi-State Business Park, Second Plat. 
2. The fence shall not include electric or barbed wire. 
3. A building permit shall be required prior to installation of the fence. 
4. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
5. The conditions and stipulations of the Preliminary Plan and Final Plan approval (Governing Body Ordinance 

2764) shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent expressly modified herein. 
6. In addition to the stipulations listed in the report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has 
been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledgement in writing that they agree to stipulations one 
through six. 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    November 27, 2018 
REPORT WRITTEN:   November 13, 2018 
 

TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, 6th PLAT - REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL PLAT 
- Located north of 137th Street and west of Chadwick Street - Case 129-18           **Consent Agenda** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 129-18, Tuscany Reserve Village, Sixth Plat – request for approval of 
a Revised Final Plat, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant/ property owner is Tom French with Tom French Construction Inc. 

 The engineer is John Ray with Phelps Engineering Inc. 

 The architect is Monty Stout with Elswood Smith Carlson Architects 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plat for Units 1, 2, and 3 of the Tuscany 
Reserve Village, Sixth Plat to divide a single townhome into three separate units with a peripheral tract.   

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned RP-3 (Planned Cluster Attached Residential District). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Medium Density Residential. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North 
 

To the north of the property is the Lord of Life Church zoned SD-O (Planned Office) with a 
special use permit for a church. 

 East To the east of the property is Chadwick Street and undeveloped land zoned SD-O (Planned 
Office) 

 South To the south of the property is Tuscany Reserve, a single family residential development 
zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster District –Previous LDO) and RP-1 Planned Single Family 
Residential) 

 West To the west of the property is a continuation of the Tuscany Reserve Village development 
zoned RP-2 (Planned Cluster Detached Residential) 

 
BACKGROUND: 

 A Final Plan and Final Plat for the Tuscany Reserve Village, was approved by the Governing 
Body with Case 124-13 on November 18, 2013 (Resolution No. 4150) for 2  townhomes, for a 
development total of 14 dwelling units on 4.08 acres for a density of 3.43 dwelling units per 
acre. 

 Tuscany Reserve Village was approved with the following setbacks. 

 Front yard setback = 30’ 

 Side yard setback = 20’ between buildings (Deviation approved with Governing Body 
Ordinances 2638 and Governing Body Resolution 4150) 

 Side Lot Corner Lot Setback = 30’ 

 Rear yard setback = 30’ 
With the exception of the side yard setback that shall maintain minimum distance of 20’ 
between structures, the setbacks are measured from the lot lines of Tract C.  

 The applicant is platting around each of the units, as they are constructed to divide the 
townhome into three units.  This application is for the fourth townhome to be constructed within 
the development. 

 The townhome will a minimum of 20’ from the adjacent private drive. 
 
FINAL PLAT: 

 The sixth plat is for a townhouse located in the central portion of the Tuscany Reserve Village 
development. 

 The plat creates a rectangular interior lot/condominium lot around each unit. Units 1, 2 and 3 
within Tract C of the Tuscany Reserve Village development. The lot area of unit 1 is 4,859.87 
sq. ft. The lot area of unit 2 is 4,468.71 sq. ft. The lot area of unit 3 is 5,297.17 sq. ft.  

 The plat also shows the foundation/footprint of the townhouse being constructed.   

 Proposed open space for the Tuscany Reserve Village development is 50%. 
 
IMPACT FEES: 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a park impact fee in the amount of $300.00 per dwelling unit 
prior to the recording of the final plat, estimated at current date to be $900.00 ($300.00 x 3 units). This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 The applicant shall be responsible for a 135th Street Impact fee in the amount of 389.40/per unit for 
residential is due prior to issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be $1,168.20 
($389.40 x 3). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 
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REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 The proposed Final Plat will plat around each of the units within the townhome as they are constructed, 
with plat lines dividing the townhouse into three units with interior platted lines.  Per Section 16-3-9, 
Deviations, of the Leawood Development Ordinance, interior property line setbacks may be reduced 
to zero when the City approves adequate open space for the project and between buildings. The 
Revised Final Plan and Final Plat for the Tuscany Reserve Village provided increased open space of 
50% (compared to 30% open space required within the Leawood Development Ordinance) within the 
development. 

 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 Staff is supportive of the deviation to allow for 0’ interior property line setbacks to allow the duplex units 
to be divided into two units.  (Stipulation 2) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 129-18, Tuscany Reserve Village, Sixth Plat – 
request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, with the following stipulations: 
1. This application is limited to the platting of interior property lines around an individual townhome, Units 

1, 2 and 3 of Tuscany Reserve Village.   
2. The applicant shall be responsible for a park impact fee in the amount of $300.00 per dwelling unit 

prior to the recording of the final plat, estimated at current date to be $900.00 ($300.00 x 3 units). This 
amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

3. The applicant shall be responsible for a 135th Street Impact fee in the amount of 389.40/per unit for 
residential is due prior to issuance of a building permit, estimated at current date to be $1,168.20 
($389.40 x 3). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

4. The project shall meet all required setbacks of the Leawood Development Ordinance with the exception 
of the following deviations: 
a) Minimum side yard setback of 20’ between buildings. 
b) Interior property line setback of 0’ for the footprint of the townhome, and common walls between 

the units of the townhome.  
5. The conditions and stipulations of the Preliminary Plan approval (Governing Body Ordinance #2638) 

and Final Plan of approval (Resolution #4150) shall remain in full force and effect except to the extent 
expressly modified herein. 

6. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
7. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and to 
execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through seven. 
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An easement or license to lay, construct, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the 
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right of ingress or egress, over and through those areas designated as "Drainage Easement" or "D/E" on this plat is hereby dedicated to the Tuscany Reserve Village Homes Association.
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The undersigned proprietors of the above described tract of land have caused the same to be subdivided in the manner shown on the accompanying plat, which subdivision and plat shall 
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The undersigned proprietors of said property shown on this plat do hereby dedicate for public use and public ways and thoroughfares, all parcels and parts of land indicated on this plat as 
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streets, terraces, places, roads, drives, lanes, avenues and alleys not heretofore dedicated.

AutoCAD SHX Text
An easement or license to enter upon, locate, construct and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, 
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wires, drainage facilities, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon over and under those areas outlined and designated on this plat as "Utility Easement" or "U/E", is hereby granted to 
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The undersigned proprietors of the above described land hereby agree and consent that the Board of County Commissioners of Johnson County, Kansas, and the City of Leawood, Johnson 
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County, Kansas, shall have the power to release such land proposed to be dedicated for public ways and thoroughfares, or parts thereof, for public use, from the lien and effect of any special 
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assessment, and that the amount of unpaid special assessments on such land so dedicated shall become and remain a lien on the remainder of this land fronting and abutting on such 
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dedicated public way or thoroughfare.
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CONSENT TO LEVY:
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hereafter be known as "TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, SIXTH PLAT".
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DEDICATION:
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A right-of-way maintenance agreement has been executed between the undersigned proprietor and the City of Leawood, a Kansas municipal corporation, for the maintenance of certain 
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amenities, including all trails located within this plat. Care and maintenance of those amenities shall be the sole responsibility of the Tuscany Reserve Homes Association.
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DESCRIPTION:
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A perpetual easement of access, over, under, across and upon the areas designated as "Access Easement" or "A/E" is hereby reserved by the undersigned proprietor, its heirs and assigns, for the ingress and egress 

AutoCAD SHX Text
of all owners and occupants of lots and parcels depicted on this plat, and their guests and invitees, subject to the provisions of the Declaration of Restrictions for "Tuscany Reserve Village". The right or license to 
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enter upon, locate, construct, and maintain or authorize the location, construction or maintenance and use of conduits, water, gas, sanitary sewer pipes, poles, wires, ducts and cables, and similar facilities, upon, 
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over and under said access easement, is hereby granted to Tuscany Reserve Village Homes Association, the City of Leawood, Kansas, and other governmental entities as may be authorized by state law to use such
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All of Tract C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  of Tract C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of of Tract C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  Tract C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of Tract C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of C, TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of TUSCANY RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of RESERVE VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of VILLAGE, THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of THIRD PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of PLAT a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of a platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of platted subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of subdivision of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of land in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of in the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of the Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of Northwest Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of Quarter of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of Section 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of 34, Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of Township 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  13 South, Range 25 East in the City of 13 South, Range 25 East in the City of  South, Range 25 East in the City of South, Range 25 East in the City of  Range 25 East in the City of Range 25 East in the City of  25 East in the City of 25 East in the City of  East in the City of East in the City of  in the City of in the City of  the City of the City of  City of City of  of of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, containing 0.7634 acres, more or less, of replatted land.
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An easement or license to lay, construct, alter, repair, replace and operate one or more sewer lines and all appurtenances convenient for the collection of sanitary sewage, together with the 
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right of ingress or egress, over and through those areas designated as "Sanitary Sewer Easement" or "S/E" on this plat is hereby dedicated to the Consolidated Main Sewer District of Johnson

AutoCAD SHX Text
County, Kansas or their assigns.
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easements for said purposes.
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IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the undersigned proprietors has hereunto subscribed his hands this ____________________ day of ____________ , 20_______ .
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By: _________________________________________________                                
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and year last above written.
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Notary Public:______________________________________              My Appointment Expires:______________________________
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Print Name:________________________________________
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Approved by the Planning Commission of the City of Leawood, Johnson County, Kansas, this ______________ day of ______________ , 20_______ .

AutoCAD SHX Text
_________________________________________________
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Approved by the Governing Body of the City of Leawood, Kansas, this _______________ day of_______________ , 20_______ .
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_________________________________________________              Attest:____________________________________________
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Peggy Dunn, Mayor                                                             Debra Harper, City Clerk
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APPROVALS:
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Marc E. Elkins, Chairperson

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESTRICTIONS:
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EXECUTION:
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT:
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STATE OF                  )
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COUNTY OF                 )
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Tom French Construction, Inc., a Kansas Corporation
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                         ) SS
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Thomas R. French, President
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BE IT REMEMBERED that on this ____________ day of _______________ , 20______ , before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said County and State aforesaid, came Mark, R. Simpson, Managing Member of Tuscany Reserve Village, LLC. a Kansas limited liability company, duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Kansas, who is personally known known to me to be such officer, and who is personally known to me to be the same person who executed as such officer the within instrument on behalf of said company, and such person duly acknowledges the execution of the same to be the act and deed of said company.
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    November 27, 2018 
REPORT WRITTEN:   November 13, 2018 
 

LEAWOOD PRESBYTERIAN – RED DOOR RENOVATION – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A 
REVISED FINAL PLAN - Located south of 83rd Street and east of Cherokee Lane - Case 128-18 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 128-18, Leawood Presbyterian – Red Door Renovation – request for 
approval of a Revised Final Plan, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant/architect is Michael Blackledge with Piper-Wind Architects, Inc. 

 The property is owned by United Presbyterian Church 

 The contact is Peter Knutson with United Presbyterian Church 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plan for Leawood Presbyterian, which shall 
include a new patio, to be accessed by steps and an ADA ramp, and installation of an overhead door 
at the southeast corner of the Red Door Building (a stand-alone building to the southeast of the main 
church building).  No additional building area is being added to the building. 
 

ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Institutional 
 
LOCATION: 

 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   
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 The property is surrounded on all sides by single family homes zoned RP-1 (Planned Single Family) 
  

SITE PLAN COMMENTS:   

 The applicant is proposing two improvements with this application: 
1. A new concrete patio at the southeast corner of the existing Red Door building to be accessed by 

an ADA ramp and a set of steps. 
2. The patio will be approximately 13’ x 36’ and will be 2’ above grade at its highest point 
3. The addition of a garage door and entry door along the south elevation of the Red Door building 

at the southwest corner of the building that will provide access to the proposed patio from the 
interior of the building. 

 
Patio/ADA Ramp 

 The proposed patio area is approximately 1,250 sq. ft. in size running east to west, along the south 
façade of the Red Door building, southwest of the main church building. The ADA ramp is located along 
the south side of the patio for a length of 30 feet. The patio and ramp will have a 3 foot tall railing 
system made of galvanized steel and stainless steel cables. 

 The patio, three steps and ramp are proposed to be constructed of concrete. 
 
Garage Door 

 The garage door will be located along the south side of the Red Door building and will provide access 
to the proposed patio in this application. The garage door will be approximately 10 feet tall and 16 feet 
wide.  

 The garage door is proposed to be and will have 25 glass panels. 
 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 35 ft. 40 ft. Complies 

Side Setback 15 ft. 20 ft. Complies 

Rear Setback 30 ft. 95 ft. Complies 

Lot Frontage 100 feet 390 ft. Complies 

Open Space 30% of lot area 47.7% Complies 

Height Limit 35 ft. 21 ft. Complies 

 

ELEVATIONS: 

 The applicant is proposing a newly constructed concrete patio area that will be approximately 1,250 
sq. ft. and will be surrounded by a stainless steel cable railing system along the south side of the Red 
Door building.  

 A ramp will be located along the south side of the proposed patio at a 12:1 slope. 

 An existing double entry door will be replaced by a new aluminum framed single glass door with glass 
side panel. 

 A garage door is proposed on the south side of the Red Door building and will be constructed of 
aluminum and will have a clear anodized finish.  It will replace an area that currently has three columns 
of narrow windows. 
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 The existing electrical meters are located to the west of the existing storage shed. The applicant is 
proposing to move the meters to the east of an existing attached utility room. 

 Downspouts are proposed to move from their existing location to the west of the proposed patio. 
 

SIGNAGE:   

 No additional signage is proposed with this application. 
 
LANDSCAPING:    

 The applicant is to relocate four existing shrubs and one tree from their current location to clear room 
for the newly proposed patio.  

 The four shrubs will be relocated to the east and west sides of the proposed patio. 

 The tree will be relocated to the northern side of the Red Door building. 
 
LIGHTING: 

 No additional lighting is proposed with this application. 
 

STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The additional greenspace in between the proposed ramp and the parking is proposed to be 
filled with mulch or rock bed. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance 16-4-7.3 (A6) – 
Landscaping Requirements – Other Districts: Landscaped open space shall consist of a 
minimum of 60% living materials, the remaining areas may consist of non-living materials such 
as bark, wood chips, decorative rock or stone or other similar materials. Stipulation 6 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 128-18, Leawood Presbyterian – Red Door 
Renovation - request for approval of a Revised Final Plan, with the following stipulations: 
1. This application is limited to the construction of a patio area (approximately 1,250 sq. ft.) with an entry 

ramp, along with a new entry door and a glass panel overhead door on the south elevation of the Red 
Door building. 

2. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines adjacent 
to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground.  This must be done prior to 
final occupancy of any building within the project. 

3. No changes to exterior lighting are approved with this application. 
4. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 

inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be 
installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

5. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 55 inches or 
greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, shall 
be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning Commission as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on review of a site plan containing such final 
development plan information as may be required by the City, and approved by the Governing Body. 

6. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 
mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 
foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

7. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 
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and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with the 
building structure. 

8. The applicant shall fill the space in between the proposed ADA ramp and the parking spaces with 60% 
living material. 

9. All landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
10. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
11. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during and after 

construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 
12. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
13. In addition to the stipulations listed in the report, the developer /applicant agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through thirteen. 
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EXISTING WALL TO REMAIN

A

EXISTING DOOR TO REMAIN

EXISTING DOOR TO BE DEMOLISHED

NEW DOOR

KEYED NOTE

ACCESSORY / EQUIPMENT TAG

DETAIL REFERENCE

ROOM TAG

WALL TYPE TAG

DOOR TAG

N

NORTH ARROW

ELEVATION OR SECTION REFERENCE#
Sheet

#
Sheet

# / Sheet

ROOM #/a

ACOUSTICAL CEILING GRID

ELEVATION OR SECTION REFERENCE

1

BUILT-IN MILLWORK

A

CEILING HEIGHT TAG

EXISTING WINDOW

NEW WINDOW

A.F.F. ABOVE FINISH FLOOR
ACT ACOUSTICAL CEILING TILE
ADJ ADJUSTABLE
ALUM ALUMINUM
∠ ANGLE
ARCH ARCHITECT or ARCHITECTURAL
BTWN BETWEEN
BLKG BLOCKING
B.O. BOTTOM OF
BLDG BUILDING
CLG CEILING
℄ or CL CENTERLINE
COL COLUMN
CONC CONCRETE
CJ CONTROL JOINT
CONT CONTINUOUS
CMU CONCRETE MASONRY UNIT
D DEEP
DEMO DEMOLISH or DEMOLITION
DTL DETAIL
Ø or DIA DIAMETER
DN DOWN
DWG DRAWING
D.F. DRINKING FOUNTAIN
EA EACH
ELEC ELECTRICAL
ELEV ELEVATION
EVTR ELEVATOR
EQ EQUAL
EXST EXISTING
EXP BLT EXPANSION BOLT
EJ EXPANSION JOINT
F.O. FACE OF
F.D. FLOOR DRAIN
FTNG FOOTING
FDN FOUNDATION
F.V. FIELD VERIFY
FIN FINISH
F.E. FIRE EXTINGUISHER
F.E.C. FIRE EXTINGUISHER CABINET
F.H.C. FIRE HOSE CABINET
GA GAUGE
GC GENERAL CONTRACTOR
GL GLASS
GMU GLAZED MASONRY UNIT
GYP BD GYPSUM BOARD
HT HEIGHT
H HIGH
H.M. HOLLOW METAL
HOR HORIZONTAL
INSUL INSULATION
JT JOINT
LAV LAVATORY
L.L.H. LONG LEG HORIZONTAL
L.L.V. LONG LEG VERTICAL
M.O. MASONRY OPENING
MAX MAXIMUM
MECH MECHANICAL
MEP MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL,

PLUMBING
MTL METAL
MIN MINIMUM
MISC MISCELLANEOUS
MTD MOUNTED
N/A or NA NOT APPLICABLE
N.I.C. NOT IN CONTRACT
N.T.S. NOT TO SCALE
O.C. ON CENTER
O.H. OPPOSITE HAND or OVERHEAD
O.D. OUTSIDE DIAMETER
PT PAINT
PTD PAINTED
PART BD PARTICLE BOARD
PERP PERPENDICULAR
⅊ or PL PROPERTY LINE or PLATE
PLAM PLASTIC LAMINATE
RAD RADIATOR
RE: REFER TO or REFERENCE
REINF REINFORCING
REQ REQUIRED
RWB RESILIANT WALL BASE
RM ROOM
R.O. ROUGH OPENING
SIM SIMILAR
S.F. SQUARE FOOT
S.S. STAINLESS STEEL
STD STANDARD
STL STEEL
SPEC SPECIFICATION
STRUCT STRUCTURAL
SUSP SUSPENSION
T.B.D. TO BE DETERMINED
T.O. TOP OF
TYP TYPICAL (ALL CONDITIONS NOT

OTHERWISE CALLED OUT TO THE
CONTRARY)

U.N.O. UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE
VERT VERTICAL
VCT VINYL COMPOSITION TILE
W.C. WATER CLOSET
W.P. WATER PROOF
WT WEIGHT
W.W.F. WELDED WIRE FABRIC
W WIDE or WIDTH
WD WOOD

RM NAME
###

4 LEGEND

APPLICABLE CODES
- 2012 IBC, IEBC, IFC, IPC, IMC, IECC
- 2011 NEC

ZONING R-1

CONSTRUCTION TYPE VB (NO CHANGE)

BUILDING HEIGHT 1 STORY (NO CHANGE)

BUILDING AREA 1,719 SF    BASEMENT (NO CHANGE)
3,002 SF  FIRST FLOOR (NO CHANGE)

OCCUPANCY TYPE MIXED USE -NONSEPARATED
A-3, B, E  (NO CHANGE)

OCCUPANT LOAD 273   TOTAL
51   BASEMENT
222  FIRST FLOOR

BASEMENT EXITS 2 REQUIRED / 2 PROVIDED
(NO CHANGE)

FIRST FLOOR EXITS 2 REQUIRED / 3 PROVIDED
(NO CHANGE)

SPRINKLERED NO (NO CHANGE)

FIRE SEPARATION NONE REQUIRED (NO CHANGE)

RESTROOMS WOMEN W.C. 2 (NO CHANGE)
MEN W.C. 2 (NO CHANGE)

WOMEN LAV. 2 (NO CHANGE)
MEN LAV. 2 (NO CHANGE)

PROJECT
LOCATION
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AS-101

3
AS-101

RELOCATED
MAPLE TREE

1

2

3

4

KEYED NOTES

DEMO CONCRETE STOOP AND STEP

DEMO CONCRETE SIDEWALK / SLAB ON GRADE

DEMO CONCRETE CURB

DEMO ASPHALT PARKING LOT AS REQUIRED TO COMPLETE
NEW CONSTRUCTION. EXTENTS MAY VARY FROM AREA
SHOWN

RELOCATE (1) MAPLE TREE AND (4) BOXWOOD SHRUBS.
REPLACE IN KIND IF NOT SUITABLE FOR RELOCATION

MINIMIZE CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITY AND EXCAVATION
AROUND EXISTING TREE TO GREATEST EXTENT POSSIBLE

REMOVE WEST SIDE OF SHED TO ACCOMMODATE NEW
FOUNDATION WALL. PROVIDE TEMPORARY SUPPORT OF
REMAINING CONSTRUCTION AS NEEDED

RECONSTRUCT WEST END OF SHED ON NEW FOUNDATION
WALL

NEW CONCRETE PATIO, STEPS, AND RAMP

RAMP HANDRAIL. PROVIDE TOP RAIL ONLY AT NORTH SIDE
AND ATTACHED BRACKETS TO CABLE RAIL POSTS. RETURN
TOP AND BOTTOM EXTENSIONS PER DETAILS

STAIR HANDRAIL. PROVIDE TOP RAIL ONLY. RETURN TOP
AND BOTTOM EXTENSIONS PER DETAILS

STAINLESS STEEL CABLE RAIL ALONG PATIO EDGES

NEW CONCRETE SLAB ON GRADE

NEW CONCRETE CURB TO MATCH EXISTING. SLOPE ENDS OF
CURB AND GRADE BEHIND CURB DOWN TO MEET PAVEMENT

INFILL ASPHALT PARKING LOT AND RE-STRIPE PARKING
IN FRONT OF PATIO

INSTALL WHEEL STOPS IN PARKING STALLS IN FRONT OF
RAMP AND ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGNS

POLE MOUNTED ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN

CONTROL JOINT

GENERAL NOTES

1. THIS SITE PLAN IS NOT A SURVEY. GENERAL LAYOUT WAS
OBTAINED USING JOHNSON COUNTY'S AUTOMATED
INFORMATION MAPPING SYSTEM (AIMS) AND SATELLITE
IMAGERY.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FINISH FACE OF SURFACE
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

SITE INFORMATION

LEGAL DESCRIPTION (ABBREVIATED PER JC AIMS)
LEAWOOD LT 684 LT 685A & 686A CHURCH LWC 680 1 46 BTAO
3066-0

ZONING R-1

TOTAL SITE AREA 114,870 SF (2.64 ACRES)

TOTAL DISTURBED AREA APPROX. 1,250 SF

EXISTING SITE COVERAGE
MAIN CHURCH BLDG 8,784 SF
"RED DOOR" BLDG 3,380 SF
HARDSCAPE 47,635 SF
TOTAL 59,799 SF

PROPOSED SITE COVERAGE
MAIN CHURCH BLDG 8,784 SF (NO CHANGE)
"RED DOOR" BLDG 3,380 SF (NO CHANGE)
HARDSCAPE 47,862 SF (+ 227 SF)
TOTAL 60,026 SF (+ 227 SF)

GREENSPACE 54,844 SF (47.7%)

NOTE: ALL SQUARE FOOTAGES ARE APPROXIMATE. SITE PLAN HAS
BEEN GENERATED USING JOHNSON COUNTY AIMS AND SATELLITE
IMAGERY

1

EXISTING 1 STORY
MASONRY BUILDING

("RED DOOR" BUILDING)
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EXISTING 1 STORY
MASONRY BUILDING

("RED DOOR" BUILDING)
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LANDSCAPE STRIP
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1111
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ALIGN

14
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POST LOCATION,
TYP.

POST LOCATION,
TYP.

18
TYP

(2) RELOCATED
BOXWOOD

SHRUBS

(2) RELOCATED
BOXWOOD

SHRUBS

16

14

1) NEW BOXWOOD
SHRUB
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(9)

(16)

(15)

(11)

(9)

(7)

(5)

(14)

(1) RELOCATED BOXWOOD BUSH
36" DIAMETER

(1) RELOCATED BOXWOOD BUSH
24" DIAMETER

(2) RELOCATED BOXWOOD BUSHES
36" DIAMETER

(1) RELOCATED EASTERN REDBUD
2.5" CALIPER

LANDSCAPE SCOPE LIMITED TO RELOCATION OF
EXISTING PLANTS DUE TO DISPLACEMENT BY
PROPOSED PATIO.
THIS IS NOT A COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
DOCUMENTING ALL EXISTING LANDSCAPING

LOCATION OF EXISTING TREE
AND BUSHES BEING DISPLACED

BY PROPOSED PATIO

EXISTING TREE TO REMAIN

(1) NEW BOXWOOD BUSH
AND GROUND COVER IN LANDSCAPE

STRIP BETWEEN RAMP AND PARKING
LOT. GROUND COVER TO BE IVY,
VINCA, OR CREEPING JENNY TO

MATCH EXISTING SITE PLANTINGS
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LANDSCAPE PLAN

DESCRIPTIONREVISED DATE

1 LANDSCAPE PLAN
1/32" = 1'-0"

J:\
A

ut
oc

ad
\P

ro
je

ct
s\

Le
aw

oo
d 

Pr
es

by
te

ria
n 

RE
D

 D
O

O
R\

Pl
an

ni
ng

 C
om

m
iss

io
n\

Sh
ee

t\A
S-

10
2

10
/2

2/
20

18
 1

1:
48

 A
M

Pi
pe

r-
W

in
d 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
s,

 In
c.

N

0 16' 32' 64'



HALL
001

MECH CL
002

WOMEN
003

MEN
004 MECH

ROOM
005

CLASSROOM
006

OFFICE
008

CLASSROOM
007

CLASSROOM
009

CLASSROOM
010

UP

WELL

UP

WELL WELL

WELL WELL

17
'-
0

"

BRICK

CONC

C
L
 E

X
S
T
 D

O
O

R
S

UNEXCAVATED
(SANCTUARY ABOVE)

UNEXCAVATED
(STORAGE ABOVE)

UNEXCAVATED
(NORTH ENTRY

ABOVE)

UNEXCAVATED

10'-0"
LEVEL AT PATIO

30'-0"
SLOPED FOR RAMP

4
'-
11 2

"

1'
-0

"
12

'-
0

"
3
'-
0

"
1'
-0

"

9'-0" 24'-9"
LEVEL AT PATIO

1'-0"1'-0"

5'-0"

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

ADDITIONAL SCOPE NOTES

1. MEP IS DESIGN-BUILD. ANY NECESSARY
MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, OR
PLUMBING DRAWINGS WILL BE
PROVIDED BY THE CONTRACTOR.

2. PROVIDE NEW SURFACE MOUNTED LED
LIGHTING THROUGHOUT BASEMENT.

1

GENERAL NOTES

1. DIMENSIONS ARE TO FINISH FACE OF
SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

KEYED PLAN NOTES

DEMO EXISTING DOOR

DEMO EXISTING HANDRAIL

CENTER NEW WALL IN EXISTING OPENING

NEW HANDRAIL

NEW FOUNDATION WALL AND FOOTING AT
WEST SIDE OF STORAGE SHED

TURN DOWN FOOTING FOR PATIO AND
RAMP, TYPICAL

CONTINUOUS KEYWAY (DASHED) TO
RECEIVE NORTH EDGE OF RAMP SLAB

CONCRETE STEPS (DASHED)

NORTH SIDE OF RAMP AT BOTTOM TO
ALIGN WITH EDGE OF 1 1/2" RECESSED
KEYWAY IN PATIO TURNDOWN FOOTING
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BASEMENT
FLOOR PLANS

DESCRIPTIONREVISED DATE

1 BASEMENT DEMO FLOOR PLAN
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ADDITIONAL SCOPE NOTES

1. MEP IS DESIGN-BUILD. ANY NECESSARY
MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL, OR
PLUMBING DRAWINGS WILL BE
PROVIDED BY THE CONTRACTOR

2. PROVIDE NEW LED LIGHTING
THROUGHOUT FIRST FLOOR.

3. PROVIDE ADDITIONAL ELECTRICAL
OUTLETS AS DIRECTED BY OWNER.

EDGE OF
EXISTING
PARKING LOT
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GENERAL NOTES

1. DIMENSIONS ARE TO FINISH FACE OF
SURFACE UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

2. INSTALL DOUBLE 2x8 HEADER OVER ALL
NEW OPENINGS UNLESS NOTED
OTHERWISE. ALL 2x HEADERS TO HAVE
MIN. (1) JACK AND (1) KING STUD. ALL LVL
HEADERS TO HAVE MIN. (2) JACK AND (1)
KING STUDS

KEYED PLAN NOTES

DEMO DOORS AND CONCRETE STOOP

DEMO WINDOWS AND MASONRY WALL FOR
OVERHEAD DOOR PER NEW PLAN

DEMO STAGE / RAISED FLOOR

FLOOR DIFFUSERS TO BE ROUTED
THROUGH NEW STAGE STEPS

DEMO RECESSED HEATER

DEMO SOUND BOOTH

DEMO OPENING FOR WINDOWS PER NEW
PLAN. CENTER ON EXISTING RIDGE

DEMO DOOR AND MASONRY WALL AS
SHOWN. NEW HEADER TO BE RAISED

DEMO DOOR AND WALL FOR FULL WIDTH
OF RAMP

DEMO WALL MOUNTED HANDRAIL

DEMO WALL FROM FELLOWSHIP HALL
FLOOR UP TO ROOF

DEMO RAILING

DEMO WALL FOR SHIFTED DOOR
LOCATION PER NEW PLAN

DEMO FIXTURES AND ACCESSORIES
THROUGHOUT EXCEPT SALVAGE
PAPER-TOWEL DISPENSER, SOAP
DISPENSER, AND TOILET PAPER
DISPENSER FOR REINSTALLATION

FURNACE TO BE RELOCATED PER NEW
PLAN

PORTIONS OF EXISTING EAST/WEST 2x4
WALL FRAMING MAY BE LEFT IN PLACE AS
IT COORDINATES WITH NEW PLAN.
REMOVE ALL PLASTER OVER GYP BOARD
VENEER

PROVIDE TEMPORARY SUPPORT OF SHED
WHILE NEW FOUNDATION IS INSTALLED

RECONSTRUCT WEST WALL OF SHED ON
TOP OF NEW FOUNDATION WALL

NEW OVERHEAD DOOR. INSTALL NEW
TRIPLE 14" LVL HEADER

NEW STOREFRONT ENTRY DOOR AND
SIDELIGHT

NEW 1'-2" HIGH STAGE. EXTEND EXISTING
FLOOR DUCTS THROUGH FRAMING AND
INTEGRATE SUPPLY DIFFUSERS INTO
RISERS OF STEPS. COORD. WITH MECH
CONTRACTOR

NEW RAMP UP TO STAGE. RE: 5/A-301 FOR
TYPICAL RAILING AT OPEN SIDE OF
RAMP. PROVIDE WALL MOUNTED
HANDRAIL ALONG NORTH SIDE OF RAMP

NEW PLATFORM LEARNING STEPS. COORD.
FINISH WITH OWNER. COORD. WITH
OWNER AND A/V CONTRACTOR FOR
CONNECTIONS NEEDED AT SOUND BOOTH

NEW STOREFRONT WINDOWS. INSTALL
DOUBLE 11 1/4" LVL HEADER. PROVIDE
ROLLER SHADE BLINDS WITH ELECTRIC
UP/DOWN CONTROLS

NEW DOOR WITH SIDELIGHT. DOOR IS
NOT PART OF MEANS OF EGRESS.

INSTALL NEW TRIPLE 9 1/4" LVL HEADER
OVER EXPANDED OPENING

RETURN RAMP HANDRAIL BOTTOM
EXTENSION BACK TO WALL

WALL OFF STEPS TO UPPER FIRST FLOOR
AND INSTALL NEW HANDRAIL TO
BASEMENT. RE: 4/A-301 FOR TYPICAL
WALL MOUNTED HANDRAIL

DEMO WALL BETWEEN FELLOWSHIP HALL
AND RAMP. RECONSTRUCT TRUSS
OVERHEAD AND INSTALL NEW CABLE RAIL
AT EDGE OF FLOOR. RE: 2/A-301 FOR
TYPICAL CABLE RAIL

INSTALL NEW RAMP HANDRAIL. ATTACH
TO CABLE RAIL POSTS WHERE THEY
OCCUR AND PROVIDE WALL BRACKETS
ELSEWHERE. RETURN TOP AND BOT.
EXTENSIONS TO TOP RAIL OF CABLE
RAIL OR WALL AS SHOWN

RELOCATE EXISTING FURNACE TO NEW
MECHANICAL CLOSET

CONTRACTOR TO COORDINATE
CABINETRY SELECTION WITH OWNER.
UTILIZE EXISTING PLUMBING
CONNECTIONS FOR NEW SINK.
REFRIGERATOR PROVIDED BY OWNER.

INSTALL DOUBLE 11 1/4" LVL HEADER
(ABOVE CEILING) ACROSS OPENING FOR
CAFE

NEW STOREFRONT WINDOW. INSTALL
DOUBLE 9 1/4" LVL HEADER

OVERBUILD STEPS TO INFILL FLOOR
AREA AT NEW OFFICE 105
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GENERAL NOTES

1. TOUCH UP ALL GALVANIZED STEEL
SURFACES AFTER FIELD WELDING OR IF
COATING IS DAMAGED DURING
INSTALLATION

KEYED NOTES

NOT USED

NOT USED

NEW CONCRETE PATIO, STEPS, AND RAMP

NOT USED

NOT USED

NOT USED

NOT USED

NOT USED

1 1/2" GALV. TUBE STEEL TOP RAIL AT ALL
RAILINGS, TYPICAL

1 1/2" GLAV. TUBE STEEL BOTTOM RAIL AT
RAMP, TYPICAL

1 1/2" GALV. TUBE STEEL POST AT ALL
RAILINGS, TYPICAL

STAINLESS STEEL CABLE RAIL, TYPICAL

WELD GALV. SOLID STEEL ROD HANDRAIL
BRACKET TO POST
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 

MEETING DATE: NOVEMBER 27, 2018 
REPORT WRITTEN: NOVEMBER 16, 2018 
 
STATE LINE NORTH OFFICE BUILDING – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY 
PLAN, FINAL PLAN, PRELIMINARY PLAT, AND FINAL PLAT – Located south of 127th Street 
and west of State Line Road – Case 130-18                                                   **PUBLIC HEARING** 
 
APPLICANT:   

 The applicant and architect is Scott Coryell with Bell/Knott & Associates. 

 The property owner is MO’S State Line Building, LLC. 

 The engineer is Judd Claussen with Phelps Engineering. 

 The landscape architect is Kevin Vogt with VerdiGris Studio Midwest. 

 

REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Preliminary Plan, Final Plan, Preliminary Plat and Final 

Plat for a 9,702 sq.ft, single-story, office building on 1.2 acres for an F.A.R of 0.19. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DESIGNATION:   

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this area as Office. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is zoned SD-O, Planned Office. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING/LAND USE:   

 North To the north of the property is Brookdale Assisted Living Facility, zoned AG 

(Agricultural). 

 South To the south of the property is State Line Office Building, a building zoned SD-O 

(Planned Office). 

 East To the east of the property is State Line Road and single family residential located 

within the city of Kansas City, MO. 

 West To the west of the property is Leawood South, a residential subdivision zoned RP-

4 (Planned Cluster Residential District) under a previous version of the Leawood 

Development Ordinance (LDO). 
 
LOCATION:  
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SITE PLAN COMMENTS:  

 The proposed building is located approximately 1,000’ south of 127th Street and west of State Line 

Road.  

 The driveway entrance is located on the south side of the property off of State Line Road. The 

primary building entrance is located on the south side of the building. 

 A 5 foot sidewalk spans the southern and western sides of the building. Head-in parking spaces are 

directly adjacent to the main sidewalk. 

 Two ADA parking spaces are provided on the south side of the building, in front of the main 

entrance and adjacent to the 5 foot sidewalk. 

 The trash enclosure is proposed on the southwest corner, attached to the building.   

 Parking is located on the west and south sides of the building. There are 39 parking spaces 

provided for the development. 

 Bike racks are proposed to be located at the southeastern corner of the building, adjacent to the 5 

foot sidewalk. 

 Landscaping is shown around the perimeter of the property and the proposed building.  

 A 5 foot sidewalk connection is provided from the east side of the building to State Line Road. 

 A 2.5 foot high Versa Lok retaining wall is proposed along the southeast corner of the building. The 

wall will match as closely as possible to the wall design of the adjacent office building to the south. 
 
FINAL PLAT: 

 The final plat contains one lot on 1.2 acres. 

 A 10’ utility easement is shown along the north, east and west property lines. 

 The final plat consists of the following: 

 

Parcel  Area (sq.ft.) Area (Acres) 

Lot 1 52,121.56 1.1965 

ROW 5,600 0.1286 

 
BULK REGULATIONS: 
 

Criteria Required Provided Conformance 
Front Setback - Structures 40’ 78’ Complies 

Side Setback - Structures 40’ 40.1’ Complies 

Rear Setback - Structures 40’ 34’ Deviation requested to building setback 

along north property line only 

Setback from Residential - Structures 75’ 96’ Complies 

Parking Setback 25’ 25’ Complies 

Open Space 30% 47.9% Complies 

F.A.R. 0.25 0.19 Complies 

Height Limit 90’ 20’ Complies 

Interior Site Landscaping 8% 8.27% Complies 

 
DEVIATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting a deviation to the rear yard setback (north property line), changing the 

40’ setback required within the SD-O zoning district to 34’. Per Section 16-3-9(A)5 of the Leawood 

Development Ordinance, setbacks of buildings from a property line other than a public street may 

be reduced to 85% of the standard requirement, when compensating additional open space on a 
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1:1 ratio. The applicant is proposing 47.9% open space, which is above the required 30% open 

space. 
 
ELEVATIONS: 

 The proposed building is composed primarily of tan colored natural stone (Buechel Stone 

Corporation, Fon Du Lac Rustic), and brown cementitious siding (Rustic Series by Woodtone) 

on all elevations.  

 The natural stone will skirt the building on all four sides to a height of approximately 5’. A buff 

colored cast stone will provide a cap for the stone skirt. 

 Medium brown brick will accent the building facades on the northern and southern elevations, 

and will wrap the entryway columns and trash enclosure. 

 The trash enclosure is proposed to be located on the western elevation, and is site obscured 

by a solid steel gate. 

 Decorative light fixtures will be located on the entryway columns and above the rear door on 

the northern elevation. 

 An aluminum storefront system will be installed on the north and south elevations. Aluminum 

window frames will be located on all facades. 

 The applicant proposes a spandrel glazing on the bottom 2/3rds of a portion of the building 

windows for privacy.  

 The remainder of the windows will have a light gray tinted glazing. 

 The roofing material will consist of Davinci Multi-Width Shake shingle in Aged Cedar. 
 
LANDSCAPING: 

 Perimeter street trees will be installed along State Line Road at a rate of 1 per 35 lineal feet, and 

ornamental trees will be planted a rate of 1 per 12 lineal feet. Due to space limitations between the 

back-of-curb and sidewalk, the trees will be planted on the west side of the sidewalk. 

 Deciduous shrubs will be planted along State Line Road at a rate of 1 per 5 lineal feet. 

 The western property line is screened from the residential neighborhood by shade and evergreen 

trees planted at a rate of 1 per 20 lineal feet and by deciduous shrubs and grasses at a rate of 1 

per 6 lineal feet. Grading at the property line provides a natural berm, a minimum of 3’ in height, 

screening the view to the parking lot. 

 A shade tree is provided for each 10 parking spaces. 

 Berms three feet in height and accented with landscaping are proposed to screen the parking lots 

near the north property line and adjacent to the north side of the main driveway entrance. 

 The northern and southern property lines are site obscured by ornamental trees, deciduous and 

evergreen grasses and shrubs. 
 
PARKING:   

 Parking is located on the south and west sides of the building. 

 The Leawood Development Ordinance requires 3 to 4 parking spaces per 1,000 sq.ft. of lease 

space. The applicant proposes 39 parking space at ratio of 4 spaces per 1,000 sq.ft., meeting the 

requirements of the LDO. 
 
SIGNAGE: 

 No signage is proposed with this application. Signage will be reviewed through a separate 

application by the Planning Commission and approved by the City Council. 
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LIGHTING: 

 The applicant provided a photometric study showing a uniformity ratio of 3.58 within the parking lot, 

a maximum of 0.5 foot-candles at the property line, and a minimum maintained average illumination 

of 0.18 foot-candles for pedestrian ways, meeting the requirements of the LDO. 

 The applicant proposes brushed aluminum wall sconces from the Northland Collection. 

 The proposed parking lot light fixture is Philips Gardco PureForm LED at a height of 18’ tall, 

including the base. 
 

TRAFFIC: 

 Per the Public Works department, a traffic study is not required. 
 
IMPACT FEES:  

 The applicant is responsible for a public art impact fee or a piece of public art. Approval of the 

design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council and Planning Commission at a 

later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant may pay a public art impact fee in the amount of 

$0.15/square foot of finished floor area estimated at current date to be ($0.15 x 9,702 = $1,455.30). 

This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

 A park impact fee in the amount of $0.15/square foot of finished floor area is required for non-

residential estimated at current date to be ($0.15 x 9,702 = $1,455.30). This amount is subject to 

change by Ordinance. 
 
GOLDEN FACTORS: 

 The character of the neighborhood: 

This area is characterized primarily as residential and office with an office building located directly 

south of this property. Leawood South, a residential subdivision is located to the south and west of 

this property.  Kansas City, Missouri is located on the east side of State Line Road. 

 

 The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

The multi-family subdivision of Leawood South, zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential under a 

previous Leawood Development Ordinance) surrounds this property on the west side, with a 

existing office building to the south. To the north of the property is Brookdale Assisted Living 

Facility, zoned AG (Agricultural) and Homestead of Leawood, an assisted living facility, zoned AG.  

 

 The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 

The property is currently zoned SD-O (Planned Office) and serves as a buffer between the existing 

multi-family residential subdivision of Leawood South and State Line Road, a major arterial with a 

substantial amount of traffic. This use will also be compatible with the existing office use to the 

south. Green areas and landscaping are proposed along the perimeter of the subject property, 

which contributes to the buffer requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance. This property 

is more suitable for office than residential due to frontage on State Line Road. 

 

 The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby property: 

Although the site is suitable for this development, the recommended stipulations are necessary to 

ensure a high quality project that will fit in with the surrounding multi-family and office 

developments. 
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 The length of time that the property has been vacant: 

The property has been vacant since its incorporation into the City of Leawood under the AG 

zoning classification.  

 

 The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the 
application as compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the 
application: 

There would be little gained from the denial of this application. The proximity of this site to other 

office uses and major arterial streets makes it suitable for the proposed use and inappropriate for 

other uses such as single family residential.  
 

 The recommendation of the permanent staff: 

City Staff recommends approval of the application with the stipulations in the staff report. 

 

 Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of 
Leawood: 

The Comprehensive Plan designates this site as Office, which matches the proposed use of the 

property. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The site does not provide an adequate turnaround provision for 47 foot long and 10 foot wide fire 

truck, per Section 7-215 of the City of Leawood Code. Staff recommends the applicant work with 

the adjacent property owner to the south to connect the two parking lots, providing a fire truck 

circulation route between both sites. (Stipulation 5) 

 Staff is not supportive of the spandrel glass proposed on the windows, but recommends the tenant 

use window blinds as a sources of privacy. (Stipulation 13) 

 All ground mounted utilities should be screened. The applicant did not screen the transformer 

located on the northwest corner of the building. (Stipulation 14) 

 The northern parking lot extends beyond the 25’ parking lot setback. The applicant should revise to 

meet the requirements of the Leawood Development Ordinance. (Stipulation 15) 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS:   

Staff recommends approval of State Line North Office Building – Request for approval of a Preliminary 

Plan, Final Plan, Preliminary Plat and Final Plat, with the following stipulations: 

1. The project is limited to the construction of a 9,702 sq.ft. office building located on 1.2 acres 

for an F.A.R. of 0.19. 

2. All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power 

lines adjacent to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground.  

This must be done prior to final occupancy of any building within the project. 

3. The applicant is responsible for a public art impact fee or a piece of public art. Approval of 

the design and location of the art will need to go before the Arts Council and Planning 

Commission at a later date.  In lieu of that, the applicant may pay a public art impact fee in 

the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area estimated at current date to be 

$1,455.30 ($.15 x 9,702). This amount is subject to change by Ordinance. 

4. A park impact fee in the amount of $.15/square foot of finished floor area is required for 

non-residential estimated at current date to be $1,455.30 ($.15 x 9,702). This amount is 

subject to change by Ordinance. 
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5. Prior to Governing Body, plans shall be revised to provide an adequate fire truck turn 

around provision, per Section 7-215 of the Leawood City Code, and per the Fire Marshal’s 

memo dated November 19, 2018. 

6. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 

less than 55 inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in 

area or less, shall be installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Planning as 

being in compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

7. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of 55 

inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 sq.ft. in area, or a pad footprint greater than 

15 sq.ft. in area, shall be installed only with the prior recommendation of the Planning 

Commission as being in compliance with the Leawood Development Ordinance based on 

review of a site plan containing such final development plan information as may be required 

by the City, and approved by the Governing Body.    

8. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, where pedestrian routes intersect vehicular 

access routes, the material of the pedestrian route shall be enhanced and differentiated 

from the vehicular paving material, including the pedestrian crossing across the driveway 

off of State Line Road. 

9. The project shall meet all required setbacks of the Leawood Development Ordinance with  

the exception of a deviation is approved to allow for a 34’ building setback from the north 

property line. 

10. Prior to recording with the county, the applicant shall revise the Final Plat to include the 

building and parking setback lines from the east property line, adjacent to State Line.   

11. In accordance with the Leawood Development Ordinance, all trash enclosures shall be 

screened from public view with a 6 foot solid masonry structure to match the materials used 

in the buildings and shall be architecturally attached to the individual buildings and 

accented with appropriate landscaping.  The gates of the trash enclosures shall be painted, 

sight obscuring, decorative steel. 

12. All downspouts shall be enclosed. 

13. Prior to Governing Body approval, the applicant shall remove the spandrel glass from the 

building elevations. 

14. Prior to Governing Body approval, the applicant shall screen the transformer located on the 

northwest corner of the building. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment 

including, but not limited to, mechanical equipment, utilities, meter banks and air 

conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building and screened from public view 

with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with the building structure. 

15. Prior to Governing Body, the applicant shall revise the northern parking lot extension 

located on the west side of the building to not encroach the 25’ parking lot setback. 

16. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all parking lot light fixtures associated with this 

project shall be a maximum of 18’ in height from grade, including base. 

17. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light 

fixtures shall not be visible. 

18. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 

o All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 

o All parking lot islands shall be bermed to discourage foot traffic. 

o All hedges shall be trimmed to maintain a solid hedge appearance. 

o All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of 

Occupancy.   
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o Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written 

approval of the landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 

19. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

20. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted 

prior to final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved 

landscape plan and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery 

industry. 

21. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the perimeter area of all on-site open parking 

areas shall be screened from the view of adjacent properties and streets to a minimum 

height of 3 feet by the use of a combination of berms and/or walls accented with plant 

material.  

22. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening 

the ground mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, 

with lower shrubs in the foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

23. The applicant shall construct the retaining wall on the southeast corner of the building to 

match the retaining wall of the office building located directly to the south. 

24. All landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 

25. The applicant shall obtain all approvals and permits from the Public Works Department, per 

the public works memo dated November 20, 2018 and on file with the City of Leawood 

Planning and Development Department, prior to recording the plat. 

26. The applicant shall obtain all approvals from the City of Leawood Fire Department, per the 

Fire Marshal’s memo dated November 19, 2018 and on file with the City of Leawood 

Planning and Development Department, prior to issuance of a building permit. 

27. A sign permit from the Community Development Department shall be obtained prior to 

installation of any signs. 

28. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during 

and after construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 

29. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 

30. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on 

Sundays. 

31. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 

32. In addition to the stipulations listed in this report, the developer/property owner agrees to 

abide by all ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 

has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to 

stipulations one through thirty-two. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 
 
Date: November 20, 2018 
 
 
To: Richard Coleman, Director of Community Services 
 
 
From: Brian Scovill, P.E., City Engineer 
 
 

Re: State Line North Office Building 

 Case Number: 130-18 

 
 
The Department of Public Works has reviewed the aforementioned project and would 
like to make the following stipulations as part of the Planning Commission Approval: 
 

1) Plat: 

a) No additional Right-of-Way is required as part of this project. 

b) The developer shall provide a ten (10) foot Utility Easement abutting all the 
Right-of-Way. 

2) Storm Water Study: 

a) The developer submitted a stormwater study and is meeting the MARC BMP 
and American Public Works Association, KC Metro Standards. 

b) Three underground infiltration trenches have been proposed to improve 
stormwater quality.    

3) Construction vehicles, including vehicles of construction personnel, shall not be 
parked within the Right-of-Way.  All staging and storage of equipment and/or 
materials for private improvements shall be contained on the proposed 
development unless a Right-of-Way Permit has been obtained by the Contractor 
to close a lane. 

4) The developer shall provide as-built storm sewer information in accordance with 
our standards.  This includes, but is not limited to, vertical and horizontal 
coordinates of all structures constructed or modified, flow line information at each 
structure, pipe size information, downstream structure numbers and type of 
structure.  This information shall be provided to us on the Johnson County AIMS 
coordinate system.  The spreadsheet for the data will be provided to the 
developer after the storm sewer improvements have been completed.   



 
 

PW-2 

5) The Developer shall provide documentation by a licensed professional engineer 
certifying the BMPs have been constructed in accordance with City standards 
and the approved plans.  

6) The Developer shall repair any damaged areas between the back of curb and the 
Right-of-Way.  This shall include street lighting equipment, traffic signal 
equipment, sidewalk, storm sewers, grass, etc. 

7) All public improvements shall be designed and constructed in accordance with 
the City of Leawood Public Improvement Construction Standards as developed 
by the Department of Public Works (latest revision). 

8) The developer shall obtain and submit to the Department of Public Works and 
the Building Official a copy of the NPDES Land Disturbance Permit issued by the 
Kansas Department of Health and Environment prior to any grading work at the 
site. 

9) The permit fee for plan review and construction observation shall be five (5) 
percent of the construction cost for all improvements within the Right-of-Way or 
Public Easement(s) granted to the City of Leawood.  The fee will be charged and 
collected from the Contractor prior to issuance of the permit from the Department 
of Public Works.   

10) Temporary Certificates of Occupancy shall not be issued for any building until all 
stipulations have been completed, unless otherwise noted above, by the 
developer and accepted by the Public Works Department. 

 
If you have any questions, please call me at (913) 663-9134. 
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1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is a final stormwater management plan for the proposed State Line 
North Office Building prepared by Phelps Engineering, Inc. (PEI).   
 
The site is bounded by State Line Road (public) to the East, existing multifamily 
residential developments to the North and West, and existing commercial 
development to the South.  The existing site consists of a single residential home 
that will be removed. The proposed development is 1.20 acres and consists of a 
single commercial office building and parking lot.  
 
The site is located within the Blue River Watershed. The site lies within Zone X, 
defined as areas determined to be outside the 0.2% annual chance floodplain, as 
shown on the flood insurance rate map prepared by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency for the City of Leawood, Community No. 200167, Johnson 
County, Kansas, Map No. 20091C0085G, and dated August 3, 2009.  
 
See the Vicinity Map below. 

  
Figure 1 - Vicinity Map 
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EXISTING SITE SOIL CONDITIONS 
The existing site is undeveloped and consists of Grundy Silt Loam and 
Chillicothe Silt Loam soils which designate the site as hydrologic soil group 
(HSG) D. See Appendix A of this report for the NRCS Web Soil Survey for the 
site. 
 
 

STORMWATER QUALITY BMPs 
Level of Service (LOS) worksheet 1 was utilized for the stormwater treatment 
design. The difference in curve number from the existing conditions to the 
proposed conditions is 9 resulting in a required LOS of 7 and a required value 
rating of 8.40. Existing Conditions Map A1 and Proposed Conditions Map A2 are 
included in Appendix A of this report. Level of Service Worksheets 1 and 2 are 
included in Appendix A of this report. 
 
Required Total Value Rating = 1.20 acres x 7 = 8.40 
 
Underground Infiltration Trench #1 
Underground Infiltration Trench (IT) #1 will capture and treat 0.27 acres of on-site 
runoff. IT #1 was sized per the 2012 MARC Manual to hold and infiltrate, at a 
minimum, the water quality volume. IT #1 consists of 15 Stormtech MC-4500 
Chambers and 2 end caps. An outlet control structure is located directly 
downstream of IT #1 and consists of a weir wall. The elevation of the top of the 
weir wall is equal to the elevation of the top of infiltration trench storage area. 
See Appendix B of this report for design calculations and details for IT #1. 
 
Per the 2012 MARC Manual, an infiltration trench corresponds to a value rating 
of 9.00. 
  
Total Value Rating = 0.27 acres * (VR=9.00) = 2.43 
 
Underground Infiltration Trench #2 
Underground Infiltration Trench (IT) #2 will capture and treat 0.33 acres of on-site 
runoff. IT #1 was sized per the 2012 MARC Manual to hold and infiltrate, at a 
minimum, the water quality volume. IT #2 consists of 20 Stormtech MC-4500 
Chambers and 2 end caps. An outlet control structure is located directly 
downstream of IT #2 and consists of a weir wall. The elevation of the top of the 
weir wall is equal to the elevation of the top of infiltration trench storage area. 
See Appendix B of this report for design calculations and details for IT #2. 
 
Per the 2012 MARC Manual, an infiltration trench corresponds to a value rating 
of 9.00. 
  
Total Value Rating = 0.33 acres * (VR=9.00) = 2.97 
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Underground Infiltration Trench #3 
Underground Infiltration Trench (IT) #3 will capture and treat 0.34 acres of on-site 
runoff. IT #3 was sized per the 2012 MARC Manual to hold and infiltrate, at a 
minimum, the water quality volume. IT #3 consists of 16 Stormtech MC-3500 
Chambers and 4 end caps. An outlet control structure is located directly 
downstream of IT #3 and consists of a weir wall. The elevation of the top of the 
weir wall is equal to the elevation of the top of infiltration trench storage area. 
See Appendix B of this report for design calculations and details for IT #3. 
 
Per the 2012 MARC Manual, an infiltration trench corresponds to a value rating 
of 9.00. 
  
Total Value Rating = 0.34 acres * (VR=9.00) = 3.06 
 
Bypass 
A total of 0.26 acres of on-site runoff will bypass the proposed stormwater 
treatment BMPs. This bypass area consists of: 

• East edge of the proposed development (frontage to State Line Road) 

• Southeast corner of proposed development 
 
Total Value Rating 
The Total Value Rating for all proposed water quality BMP’s is 8.46 exceeding 
the required value rating of 8.40 and meeting the 2012 MARC BMP Manual. See 
Appendix B of this report for Stormwater Treatment Plan A3. See Appendix C of 
this report for BMP Establishment & Maintenance Instructions. 
 
 

DETENTION REQUIREMENTS 

Stormwater detention shall be provided to reduce the total combined site 
stormwater runoff to levels less than existing for the 2-yr, 10-year, and 100-year 
rainfall events per the APWA 5600 and City of Leawood design criteria. 
 
 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 
Presently, the existing site surface drains easterly to existing public area curb 
inlets located along the western curb line of State Line Road. From the existing 
public curb inlets, runoff is conveyed southerly via an existing public underground 
enclosed storm sewer system away from the site.  
 
See Appendix B of this report for the Existing Drainage Map. 
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PROPOSED CONDITIONS 
The proposed development will maintain the existing drainage pattern. The 
majority of the site will be captured and conveyed via a new private underground 
enclosed storm sewer system. The private storm sewer system will connect to 
the existing public curb inlets along the western curb line of State Line Road. 
 
See Appendix B of this report for the Proposed Drainage Map. 
 
 

STORMWATER DETENTION 
For both the existing and the proposed conditions, composite CNs and times of 
concentration were determined using SCS TR-55 methods. The SCS Type II 24 
hour duration storm event was utilized for the stormwater analysis. Using 
HydroCAD, the existing and proposed discharge rates were determined in order 
to validate that the proposed condition reduces the total combined site 
stormwater runoff to less than existing levels for the 2-year, 10-year, and 100-
year rainfall events per APWA 5600 and City of Leawood requirements. 
 
The existing composite curve numbers and times of concentration are shown in 
Table 1 below. See Appendix B of this report for the Existing Drainage Map. 
 

Table 1 – Existing Runoff Conditions 
 

Drainage               
Sub-Basin 

Open Space 
 (acres) 

Impervious 
 (acres) 

Total 
(acres) 

Composite 
CN 

Time of 
Conc. (min) 

Existing 1.19 0.01 1.20 80 17.5 

 
Using HydroCAD, the existing 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year site peak 
discharges, or the allowable release rates, were determined and are shown in 
Table 2 below. See Appendix B of this report for existing HydroCAD calculations. 
 

Table 2 – Existing Runoff Results 
 

Storm 
Event 

Allowable Release Rate (cfs) 

2-Year 10-Year 100-Year 

Existing 2.46 4.53 7.69 

 
Detention will be provided by the three underground infiltration trenches. An 
outlet control structure, consisting of a weir wall, is located directly downstream 
of each infiltration trench. The elevation of the top of the weir wall is equal to the 
elevation of the top of infiltration trench storage area. See Appendix B of this 
report for all design details for the underground infiltration trench.   
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The proposed composite curve numbers and times of concentration are shown in 
Table 3 below. See Appendix B of this report for the Proposed Drainage Map. 
 

Table 3 – Proposed Runoff Conditions 
 

Drainage               
Sub-Basin 

Open Space 
(acres) 

Impervious 
(acres) 

Total 
(acres) 

Composite 
CN 

Time of 
Conc. (min) 

IT #1 0.15 0.12 0.27 88 5.0 

IT #2 0.17 0.16 0.33 89 5.0 

IT #3 0.08 0.26 0.34 94 5.0 

Bypass 0.06 0.20 0.26 84 5.0 

 
Using HydroCAD, the proposed 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year site peak 
discharges were determined with the proposed infiltration trenches included. The 
proposed 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year infiltration trench results are shown in 
Table 4 below. The proposed 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year site peak discharges 
are shown in Table 5 below. See Appendix B of this report for proposed 
HydroCAD calculations. 
 

Table 4 – Proposed Detention Basin Results 
 

Basin 
Storm 
Event 

 

Detention 
Inflow (cfs) 

Detention 
Outflow (cfs) 

Maximum1 

WSEL (ft.) 
Maximum 

Storage (cf) 

IT #1 

2-Year 1.14 0.00 3.25 2,313 

10-Year 1.86 0.03 6.01 3,450 

100-Year 2.90 2.94 6.38 3,450 

IT #2 

2-Year 1.44 0.00 3.10 2,935 

10-Year 2.31 0.03 6.01 4,516 

100-Year 3.58 1.76 6.27 4,516 

IT #3 

2-Year 1.68 0.00 4.43 3,620 

10-Year 2.56 0.33 4.83 3,769 

100-Year 3.84 4.84 5.27 3,769 
1 – Maximum WSEL is equal to height above bottom of infiltration trench gravel bed. 

 
 

Table 5 – Proposed Runoff Results 
 

Storm 
Event 

Allowable1  
Release 

Rate (cfs) 

Peak Overall 

 (cfs) 

2-Year 2.46 0.97 

10-Year  4.53 1.65 

100-Year  7.69 7.50 
   1 – See Table 2 existing allowable release rates. 
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The proposed infiltration trenches result in proposed flows less than the existing 
for the 2-year, 10-year, and 100-year events meeting APWA 5600 and City of 
Leawood detention requirements. 
 
 
SUMMARY 
This report and attached appendices complete Phelps Engineering Inc.’s 
submittal of the Final Stormwater Management Plan for State Line North Office 
Building.  Please feel free to contact PEI at (913) 393-1155 if you require 
additional information. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Daniel Finn, P.E. 
 
 
 
Enclosures 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
November 13, 2018 
 
 
Mrs. Jessica Schuller 
City of Leawood 
Planning Services 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
 
Re: State Line North Office Building 
 12728 State Line Road 
 
 Case # 130-18 

BKA No. 18-068 
 
 
Mrs. Schuller, 
 
I am writing to provide a summary of the first of two Interact meetings for the above referenced project.  
The meeting was held at 6:00pm on 11/7/18 at the offices of Bell/Knott & Associates.  Ten (10) people 
were in attendance as indicated on the included sign-in sheet. 
 
The biggest concern raised during the meeting was regarding the impact of stormwater on the Klapmeyer 
Estates neighborhood, which lies on the Missouri side of State Line.  The group was informed that the 
project has been designed to the current standards, which incorporate BMPs and that this would reduce 
runoff compared to past practices of allowing all water to immediately flow into the system.  A copy of 
sheet A102 was requested by Andy Stanley and James Maxwell.  This was emailed to them on 11/13/18.  
The question was asked regarding how much water the BMPs could handle.  An answer was not available 
as the Civil Engineer needed to be consulted. 
 
A contact for Leawood public works was requested by Joey D’Alesio.  Contact information for Brian 
Scovill was emailed to him on 11/13/18. 
 
It was asked if a wall will be built on the West side.  The group was told that none was planned and that 
when 12730 State Line was constructed the residents on the West requested that a wall not be built as 
they would rather look at the landscaping.  The person who asked indicated their concern was regarding 
construction activity, including construction vehicles being parked, during the Spring months when home 
sales typically occur.  She confirmed that she planned on selling her house in the Spring. 
 
A question was asked regarding construction duration.  The group was informed that construction of 
12730 State Line took nine (9) months and that we expected this one could be done quicker.  Possibly in 
seven (7) months, though nine (9) months would be worst case. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It was asked if renderings were available showing the finishes.  I indicated a 3D model was in process and 
we were hoping to have it further along for the second meeting being held on the 14th.  All were invited 
back at that time. 
 
It was indicated that the existing retaining wall on the West was in need of repair.  I informed them that 
this wall was on their property, to which they agreed. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 
 
 
Best regards, 

 
Scott Coryell 
 





 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
November 14, 2018 
 
Mrs. Jessica Schuller 
City of Leawood 
Planning Services 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
 
Re: State Line North Office Building 
 12728 State Line Road 
 
 Case # 130-18 

BKA No. 18-068 
 
Mrs. Schuller, 
 
I am writing to provide a summary of the second of two Interact meetings for the above referenced 
project.  The meeting was held at 6:00pm on 11/14/18 at the offices of Bell/Knott & Associates.  Three 
(3) people were in attendance as indicated on the included sign-in sheet.  One attendee was also at the 
meeting last week and just wanted to see if there was anything new. 
 
It was mentioned that there is some drainage from the West through the existing retaining wall that should 
be maintained.  I told them the wall was on their property and would not be modified so there should be 
no issue. 
 
The question was asked about when construction would start.  The group was told we expected sometime 
in early Spring. 
 
They were curious to know how the proposed parking lot compared to 12730 State Line.  I indicated that 
the proposed project has 38 spaces compared to the 43 at the adjacent property to the South.  It was asked 
how close the building was to the West property line.  They were informed it was 95-100 ft (confirmed at 
96ft). 
 
I shared the preliminary 3D model and everyone seemed content with the design. 
 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 
 
 
Best regards, 

 
Scott Coryell 







Dimensions
Height 12.00"

Width 10.00"

Ordering Information
Product ID 49775BA

Finish Brushed Aluminum

Available Finishes BA, BK

Collection Northland Collection

Dimensions
Extension 17.25"

Height from center of Wall
opening

3.00"

Base Backplate 6.00 DIA

Weight 2.20 LBS

Specifications
Material Aluminum

Electrical
Voltage 120 V

Qualifications
Safety Rated Wet

Warranty www.kichler.com/warranty

Primary Lamping
Light Source Incandescent

Lamp Included Not Included

# of Bulbs/LED Modules 1

Socket Wire 150

Socket Type Medium

Lamp Type A19

Alternate Lamps
Lamp Included Bulb Listing Light Source Max Wattage/Range Bulb Product ID Dimming

No Alternate INCA 100W

Northland Collection
Northland Outdoor Wall 1 Light BA
49775BA (Brushed Aluminum)

______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Project Name:
Location:
Type:
Qty:
Comments:

Kichler
7711 East Pleasant Valley Road
Cleveland, Ohio 44131-8010
Toll free: 866.558.5706 or kichler.com

Notes:
1) Information provided is subject to change without notice.
All values are design or typical values when measured under
laboratory conditions.
2) Incandescent Equivalent: The incandescent equivalent as
presented is an approximate number and is for reference only.

http://www.kichler.com/warranty
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Site & Area

PureForm

LED area, medium

Project: 

Location: 

Cat.No: 

Type: 

Qty: 

Notes: 

Ordering guide example: P26-64L-800-NW-G2-AR-5-120-HIS-MGY

Prefix

P26

Number of LEDs Drive Current LED Color - Generation Mounting Distribution Voltage

P26	 PureForm area 
medium, 26"

48L	 48 LEDs 
(3 modules)

64L	 64 LEDs 
(4 modules)

80L	 80 LEDs 
(5 modules)

400	 400 mA
500	 500 mA
600	 600 mA
700	 700 mA

600	 600 mA
700	 700 mA
800	 800 mA

700	 700 mA
800	 800 mA
900	 900 mA

WW-G2	 Warm White 3000K, 
70 CRI Generation 2

NW-G2	 Neutral White 4000K, 
70 CRI 
Generation 2

CW-G2	 Cool White 5000K, 
70 CRI Generation 2

WY-G2	 Warm Yellow2700K, 
80 CRI Generation 2 1

AM-G2	 Direct Amber (590nm)
Generation 2 1

AR 	 Arm Mount 
(standard) 2

The following mounting kits 
must be ordered separately 
(See accessories)

SF	 Slip Fitter Mount 3 
(fits to 2 3⁄8" O.D. tenon)

WS	 Wall mount with surface 
conduit rear entry 
permitted

RAM	 Retrofit arm mount kit 2

Type 2
2	 Type 2
2-90	 Rotated left 90°
2-270	� Rotated right 270°

Type 3
3	 Type 3
3-90	� Rotated left 90°
3-270	 Rotated right 270°

Type 4
4	 Type 4
4-90	� Rotated left 90°
4-270	 Rotated right 270° 

Type 5
5	 Type 5
5W	 Type 5W

AFR	 Auto Front Row
AFR-90	 Auto Front Row, 

rotated left 90°
AFR-270	 Auto Front Row, 

rotated right 270°
BLC	 Back Light Control
BLC-90	 Back Light Control 

rotated at 90°
BLC-270	 Back Light Control 

rotated at 270°

120	 120V
208	 208V
240	 240V
277	 277V
347	 347V
480	 480V
UNV	� 120-277V (50/60Hz)
HVU	� 347-480V (50/60Hz)

Options 

FinishDimming controls Motion sensing Photo-sensing Electrical Luminaire

DD	� 0-10V External dimming (by others) 4

DCC	� Dual Circuit Control 4,5,6

FAWS	� Field Adjustable 4,5 
SW	� Interface module for SiteWise 4,6,7

LLC3	� Integral wireless module with #3 lens 4,5,6

LLC4	� Integral wireless module with #4 lens 4,5,6

BL  Bi-level functionary with motion sensor 4

DynaDimmer: Automatic Profile Dimming

CS50	� Security 50% Dimming, 7 hours 4,8

CM50	� Median 50% Dimming, 8 hours 4,8

CE50	� Economy 50% Dimming, 9 hours 4,8

DA50	� All Night 50% Dimming 4,8

CS30	� Security 30% Dimming, 7 hours 4,8

CM30	� Median 30% Dimming, 8 hours 4,8

CE30	� Economy 30% Dimming, 9 hours 4,8

DA30	� All Night 30% Dimming 4,8

IMRI3	� Integral with #3 lens 

IMRI7	 Integral with #7 lens 

IMRO	� Pole mounted 
motion sensor  
(see accessories)

PCB	 Photocontrol Button 8,9

TLRD5	 Twist Lock Receptacle 5 Pin 10

TLRD7	� Twist Lock Receptacle 7 Pin 10

TLRPC	 Twist Lock Receptacle 
w/Photocell 9,11

Fusing

F1	 Single (120, 277, 347VAC) 9

F2	 Double (208, 240, 480VAC) 9

F3	 Canadian Double Pull (208, 
240, 480VAC) 9

Pole Mount Fusing

FP1	 Single (120, 277, 347VAC) 9

FP2	 Double (208, 240, 480VAC) 9

FP3	 Canadian Double Pull 
(208, 240, 480VAC) 9

Surge Protection (10kA standard)

SP2	� Increased 20kA

Square Pole Adapter 
included as standard

TB 
Terminal Block 12

RPA 
Round Pole  
Adapter  
(fits to 3"- 3.9" O.D. pole) 13

HIS 
Internal Housing Side Shield 14

Textured

BK	 Black
WH	 White
BZ	 Bronze
DGY	� Dark Gray
MGY	� Medium Gray

Customer specified

RAL	� Specify optional  
color or RAL (ex: RAL7024)

CC	 �Custom color 
(Must supply color chip for 
required factory quote)

Philips Gardco PureForm LED area medium P26 features a sleek, low profile 
design and optimal performance. PureForm area medium is designed to 
achieve maximum pole spacing, with lumen output up to 28,900 lumens. 
Multiple distribution and shielding options are availble to achieve maximum 
control. A full range of control options provides additional energy savings.

1.	 Extended lead times apply. Contact factory for details.
2.	 Mounts to a 4" round pole with adapter included for square poles.
3.	 Limited to a maximum of 45 degrees aiming above horizontal.
4.	 Not available with other control options.
5.	 Not available with motion sensor.

6.	 Not available with photocontrol.
7.	 Available only in 120 or 277V.
8.	 Not available in 347 or 480V
9.	 Must specify input voltage.
10. 	Dimming will not be connected to NEMA receptacle if

ordering with other control options.

11.	 Not available in 480V.
12.	 TB not available with DCC. 
13.	 Not available with SF and WS. RPAs provided with

black finish standard. 
14.	 HIS not available with Type 5, 5W, and BLC optics.
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Dimensional Data
Heat Pump Condenser
Figure 17. 6-7.5 ton heat pump, single compressor

BOTTOM
OF UNIT

14 3/8"
(365.1)

26 15/16"
(684.2)

39 3/16"
(995.4)

3 1/16" (77.8)

2" (50.8)

33 13/16"
(858.8)

1/16"
(1.6)

6"
(152.4)

21 11/16"
(550.9)

34 3/4"
(882.7)40 3/4"

(1035)

3" (76.2)

1 13/16"
(46)

27 11/16"
(703.3)

2 5/16"
(58.7)

4 3/16"
(106.4)

33 15/16"
(862)

36 3/8"
(923.9)

29 13/16"
(757.2)

8 5/16"
(211.1)5 5/8"

(143)

35 15/16"
(912.8)

41 1/16"
(1043)

42 1/8"
(1070)

NOTES:
1. ACCESS OPENING IS FOR FIELD INSTALLED BAYLOAM ACCESSORY.
2. MINIMUM CLEARANCE FOR PROPER OPERATION IS 36" ( 914.4) FROM
    WALLS, SHRUBBERY, PRIVACY FENCES ETC. MINIMUM CLEARANCE 
    BETWEEN ADJACENT UNITS IS 72" (1828.8). RECOMMENDED SERVICE 
    CLEARANCE 48" (1219.2)
3. TOP DISCHARGE AREA SHOULD BE UNRESTRICTED FOR 100" (2540)
    MINIMUM. UNIT SHOULD BE PLACED SO ROOF RUN-OFF WATER DOES 
    NOT POUR DIRECTLY ON UNIT
4. OUTDOOR AIR TEMPERATURE SENSOR OPENING (DO NOT BLOCK OPENING)

SERVICE CLEARANCE 
48" (1219.2) (SEE NOTE 2
FOR CLEARANCE)

SEE NOTE 1

REFRIGERANT ACCESS

HAIL GUARD 
(OPTIONAL)

SUCTION LINE

LIQUID LINE

CONTROL WIRING

LINE VOLTAGE

SERVICE PANEL

HAIL GUARD 
(OPTIONAL)

SERVICE PANEL

SEE NOTE 3

SERVICE PANEL SIDE

SEE NOTE 4

WITH HAIL GUARD

7/16" (11.1) DIA. ISOLATOR MOUNTING 
HOLES (OUTSIDE HOLES - 4 PLACES)

WITH HAIL GUARD

6"
(152.4)
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Select a color: Black

1-Loop Wave Style Bike Rack - 3 Bike Capacity 
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	Case 117-18, Bi-State Centennial States Beverage - Fence

	Case 129-18, Tuscany Reserve Village, 6th Plat
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